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PREFACE.

In the attempt to fill a manifest void in Scottish military history,
I have received much courtesy and help which I wish to gratefully
acknowledge.

Major-General the Hon. Barrington Campbell, C.V.O., C.B,,
kindly brought to my notice, in January, 1905, the two folio
volumes of type-written Records relating to the early history of
the Scots Guards, which he presented to the Regiment when he
was Colonel, General Campbell employed Mr. Andrew Ross,
Ross Herald, to compile the Records in question from original
docuraents in H.M’s. Register House, Edinburgh, and from other
reliable sourees. I am much indebted to Major-General Inigo
Joues, C.V.0., C.B., for his courtesy in permitting me to see, and
make extracts from, these Seots Guards’ Records, when he was
Colonel of the Regiment. I wish to add that the extracts I made
were entirely confined to the lists and dates of commissions of
officers serving in the Scots Guards from the year of the raising
of this Regiment to the Revolution. A few of the names I
extracted were those of officers whose commission registers are
conspicuous by their absence at the Register House or elsewhere.
To Mr. Ross belongs the eredit of having unearthed these same
officers by patient research among old Scottish deeds, where, but
for him, they might have lain dormant until the crack of doom.

Many extracts from, and not a few copies of, unpublished
letters in that rich mine of wealth known as Zhe Lauderdale
Papers, preserved at the British Museum, are given in the following
pages, and throw fresh light on the services of Scottish officers
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during a momentous period. Mr. G. T. Longley, of the MS.
Department at the British Museum, has been of great help to me,
not only by his successful researches among The Lauderdale Papers
on my account, but for his reliable transcripts of letters and
documents. And Mr. Henry Paton, M.A., has also rendered
valuable assistance by the thoroughness of the work he did
for me at the Register House, Edinburgh.

Among others who have given me information of one sort or
another, I wish to mention Mr. A. O. Curle, W.S.; Mr. W. K.
Dickson, Curator of the Advocates’ Library ; Mr. L. H. E. Taylor,
one of the Assistants (Ist Class) at the British Museum; and
Mr. Francis Grant, Rothesay Herald.

As to the illustrations, my best thanks are due to Mr. Morkill,
M.A,, of Newfield Hall, Bell Busk, Yorkshire, for his kindness in
permitting me to reproduce the plate giving photographs of
Montrose’s forearm and hand ; also the great Marquis’s sword,
showing the shield with the arms of Montrose. The aforesaid
relics, which are in Mr. Morkill’s possession, are fully describe
in a scholarly and deeply interesting paper contributed by this
gentleman to The Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of
Scotland, 1896. As Montrose is only incidentally mentioned in
the following pages, it may be thought irrelevant to give illus-
trations of these relics. But having referred on page 5, Part I.,
to the interment of the great Marquis’s scattered limbs in
St. Giles’s Church, on 14th May, 1661; and having given a
footnote on same page to the effect that Montrose’s withered
arm had been preserved by a Mr. John Graham, a landowner
in Hemingbrough parish, I feel bound to impart the fresh
information on such an interesting subject which has reached
me, at the eleventh hour, thanks to the courtesy and help of

the Rev. William C. Murray Clarke, Vicar of Monk Fryston,
Yorkshire.



Fics. 1 anp 2.—Back and front view of Montrose’s hand and forearm.

Fic. 3—~Sword showing shield with arms of Montrose.

(Reproduced by kind permission of J. W. Morkill, Esy., M.A.  See Preface.)
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MEMORANDA

Part II., p. 55. Muster Roll of General Dalyell’s Troop. Words in brackets,
such as “ Generall,” ¢ Quarter-master,” “L.”, signify that the troopers named after
the said brackets were servants to the General, the Quarter-master, and the
Lieutenant respectively.

Pages 125 and 133. Muster Rolls of two Companies in the Earl of Mar’s
Regt. The prefix of “Mr.” before “Captain-Lieut. Charles Fleeming” and
“ Lieut. John Bell” denote that the Officer had been to a University.

Page 125. “North p.”, in brackets, after a soldier’s name, is either to denote
that he was on duty with a “ party ” at a northern garrison, and so absent, or else
that he was under orders for the north.

CORRECTION

Page 71, line 6; also note 1. Principal Alex. Monro’s reference in his funeral
sermon for General Visct. Strathallan to this commander having covered the retreat
" of the Russian Army, on one occasion, with his musketeers, and to the preacher’s
remark that “the Army had been saved by the Swans’ Feathers™ was thought by
the writer to mean that the musketeers had worn swans’ feathers in their hats.
The following note by Mujor-General Sir Frederick Maurice, K.C.B., to his interest-
ing article on “The Battle of Agincourt,” in the Cornhill Magazine for December,
1908, explains what the ‘“Swans’ Feathers” really were :—“Each archer carried
a stick or staff, pointed at the end, which when firmly planted in the ground was
about a yard high. These stakes were connected with forage cords, or other cordage,
and formed a kind of chevaux-de-frise. Such stakes were afterwards called ¢ Swedish
Feathers” in Gustavus Adolphus’ time.”




INTRODUCTION

It is an indisputable fact that Scottish writers have, with two
notable exceptions,* fought shy of compiling and publishing
works bearing on the military history of Scotland’s first Standing
Army. And few compilers of Scottish biographical dictionaries
have thought fit to include notices of certain eminent leaders
who fought with distinction in the troublous times, between
1638-1655, and subsequently held high military commands in
Scotland. Take for instance Chambers’s Biographical Dictionary
of Eminent Scotsmen, which may be termed a standard work of
reference. ~Why are Generals John Middleton and William
Drummond omitted therein? Let us pass on now to Conolly’s
Eminent Men of Fife. We search in vain through this book
for information concerning Colonel James Wemyss, a Fifeshire
celebrity (son of Sir James Wemyss, of Caskieberrie) who was
for nearly twenty years General of the Artillery in Scotland, as
well as Master-Gunner of England for a longer period. Here
we have a soldier and a scientist of the first order who had
made himself necessary to all the commanders he had served
under, including the fastidious Earl of Essex;t and yet, mirabile
dictu, this same great artillerist has been passed over by Mr.
Conolly, Mr. Chambers, and Mr. Anderson the learned editor of
The Scottish Nation. Without entering into the controversy as
to whether Wemyss’s uncle, Colonel Robert Scott, of the Bal-
wearie ! family, was, or was not, the first inventor of leather

* Mr. Andrew Ross, Ross Herald, brought out in 1885, Old Scottish Regimental
Colours, a sumptuons work of great value ; and the Marchioness of Tullibardine's
Military Ilistory of Perthshire, 1660-1902, is a splendid addition to local history.

+ After Wemyss had been taken prisoner at Cropredy Bridge, Lord Essex wrote
to the Parliament on Wemyss’s behalf and said : “ A man of his abilities is not to be
lost.” Col. S.P. Dom., 15 July, 1644. .

} The arms of Scott of Balwearie, Fifeshire, are: “ Arg. 3 lions’ heads erased
gules.” Seton's Scottish Heraldry, 1863, p. 116.

-~ .
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ordnance, it may be briefly stated here that James Wemyss
(p. 40, Pt. II.) improved on his uncle’s guns, and this light
artillery was extensively used under Wemyss’s personal direc-
tion, by the English Parliamentary army, and subsequently in
Scotland by the Royalist forces.* Let us quote the words of
an experienced Artillery officer of the present day on the subject
of leather ordnance :—

In shooting power the leather guns were confessedly inferior to metal ones ;
but it was only when they appeared in the field that soldiers first realised, how-
ever imperfectly, the importance of another attribute of Field Artillery, mobility.
These guns were short-lived, it is true ; but when they disappeared their work
was done. They had afforded the first faint indications of what might be
achieved by a Field Artillery that ecould move quickly as well as fire effectively.
Owing to the backward state of chemistry and metallurgy, the construetion of
such a system was impossible in the time of Gustavus Adolphus; and it was
not, in fact, accomplished for more than a century after his death, The creation
of Horse Artillery in the eighteenth century by the great King of Prussia was
the counterpart of the introduction of the leather guns in the seventeenth cen-
tury by the yet greater King of Sweden.t

There are few subjects relating to Scotland’s past which have
not been thoroughly investigated by what we may term literary
searchlights. = There must, therefore, be some cogent reason
why the Scottish Army of the latter part of the seventeenth
century has not received a fair share of attention. We are
convinced that the obloquy cast upon the officers, as well as
the rank and file, of this early Standing Army, by contemporary
and subsequent ecclesiastical writers, has had a deterring effect
on would-be military historians and biographers. In his preface
to Old Scottish Regimental Colours the author says: *“The details
of the military history of our country from 1660-1707 have
hitherto been left to the tender mercies of the ecclesiastical
histerian.” In a subsequent chapter we have expressed the
opinion that Bishop Burnet’s charges against General Dalyell

* Notably at Dunbar. And at the battle of Killicerankie we are told that Dundee,
by a desperate and successful charge on the artillery, which consisted of three pieccs
of light leather ordnance, captured the same. Macpherson’s Original Papers, Vol. 1.,
pp. 369-72,

t Who invented the Leather Guns, hy Lt.-Colonel H. W. L. Hime, late R.A. Sce
Proceedings, Royal Artillery Institution, Vol. XXV., No. 12.
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were too severe, and that this Bishop “ran with the hare and
hunted with the hounds” as suited his own convenience. There
is a divergence of opinion among literary Scotsmen as to whether
Gilbert Burnet was, or was not, a reliable authority on *The
Scottish Troubles.” An able writer in The Scottish Historical
Review * draws attention to * Burnet’s employment of hearsay”
and characterises the Bishop’s first great work—The Memoirs
of James and William, Dukes of Hamilton—as * a one-sided and
frequently distorted source for the events it describes.” Another
Scottish writer, who holds a brief for the Covenanters, assures
us in his review of a recent life of Bishop Burnet (which article
appeared in The English Historical Review t) that the Bishop’s
“Jow estimate of the Scots episcopal clergy . . . is proved
beyond cavil” by the ¢‘‘recently accessible Lauderdale MSS.
and Wodrow MSS.,” thus testifying to Burnet’s trustworthiness
as a writer. For the sake of argument let us endorse the last-
named writer’s opinion. There is a very remarkable letter from
Bishop Burnet to the third Duke of Hamilton, written very soon
after the re-establishment of Presbyterianism in Scotland, in
which the former ‘inveighs against the furious temper of the
Scots Presbyterians, and their continued acts of violence to the
Episcopal clergy; which in all appearance, as he apprehended,
would engage both the King and the English nation to re-
establish episcopacy in Scotland when the state of the kingdoms
should be settled,” which he specially laments, inasmuch as he
had counselled the King to make the change in religion recently
adopted in Scotland.}

If the worthy, but credulons, Mr. Wodrow ever saw this
condemnatory letter, he kept its contents to himself. It is only
fair that it should be quoted here as a set-off against some acts
of violence, and oppression, said, by various ecclesiastical writers,
to have been frequently committed by Scots officers and soldiers
against the Covenanters and their faction.

¥ July, 1907. P. 398.
1 July, 1908. P. 481,
{ First Report of the Royal Commission on Historical MSS. (London, 1874).
Appendix, p. 113.
c 2
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The unfortunate dearth of military records among the Scottish
archives, between the years 1660-1667, and the total absence of
commission registers relating to the Standing Army prior to
December, 1670,* has been severely felt by those interested in
the military history of the Restoration period. We all know
how difficult it is to make bricks without straw. Historical and
biographical mis-statements are often caused by inability to find
official documents throwing light on the particular time, or
persons, we wish to write about. It has been our earnest
endeavour in the following pages not only to supply additional
facts, unearthed by careful research, but to correct divers errors
which have been persistently repeated in all good faith by writers
in the past. Mr. Wodrow starts his magnum opus with an
anachronism as to the date of the Cromwellian Army’s departure
from Scotland.t The tradition is that the said troops cleared
out in the autumn of 1660. This was not so. It is true that
by Lauderdale’s representations to the King a great part of
the English forces were recalled to England a few months after
the Restoration,} and the citadels were ordered to be dismantled ;
but Sir Thomas Morgan, with an infantry regiment 1,000 strong,
occupied Leith Citadel until May 1662, as set forth in the
Mercurius Publicus of that date (p. 3). DPolitic, as well as
financial, reasons delayed the raising of the five companies which
formed the nucleus of the corps now known as the Scots Foot
Guards till August, 1662. With the exception of one writer, a
well-known Scottish novelist,§ it has been universally stated that

* The valnable set of Warrant Books for Scotlund, at the Public Record Office,
Londen, ouly start from Dec. 1670. The preeeding volumes have been either irre-
vocably lost or have found their way into private hands and remained there.

t Under date of 1661 Wedrow chronicles : “ Last year the kingdom was delivered
from the English army.”  Sufferings of the Church of Scotland (edit. 1828), Vol. 1.,
p. 242,

} Nicol in his Diary mentions, under date of Sept. 1660, that the Cromwellian

army was recalled.

§ The late James Grant. See his account of the early history of the Scots Foot
Guards given at the end of his book entitled 4 Constable of France. Mr. Grant was

the happy possessor of some early Muster Rolls of the Foot Guards which eannot now
be traced,
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the Earl of Linlithgow was appointed Colonel of the Foot Guards
at its first formation. We have it under Linlithgow’s own hand
(pp. 13, 14, Pt. I1.) that he was appointed Lieut.-Colonel of the
companies raised at Edinburgh in August, 1662, and that he
had no Company and no Commission. This anomalous state of
things continued till the beginning of 1664 when Linlithgow
memorialised Lauderdale on the subject, and the King was
pleased to appoint the former Colonel of his Foot Guards.
When the Scots Army was reduced, and remodelled, in Oectober
1667, the leading officers received fresh commissions ; * but owing
to the King’s natural indolence, Linlithgow’s renewed commis-
sion as Colonel was not signed till 19th August, 1668.t

Mr. Wodrow is palpably in error when he asserts that the
Earl of Newburgh was in command of the cavalry at Rullion
Green. Newburgh, in the absence of the Earl of Rothes, com-
manded the latter’s Troop of Life Guards, as well as the King's
Troop, and took precedence of all other commanders of horse
excepting Generals Dalyell and Drummond. The new-raised
troops of horse, to which Mr. Wodrow refers, were not inde-
pendent troops, but formed part of General Drummond’s
regiment and were under this Major-General’s immediate com-
mand. Happily for our readers, complete muster-rolls of the
six new troops (pp. 55-65, Pt. I1.) raised for Drummond’s corps
in August, 1666, as well as the rolls of five additional troops
(pp. 68-76, Pt. II.) raised for the same regiment, early in 1667,
are preserved at the Register House, Edinburgh, and are as
welcome to those in quest of military records as is an oasis in
the desert to the weary traveller. A search among the unpub-
lished Lauderdale MSS. at the British Museum, has unearthed
information concerning Lord Carnegie’s Troop (p. 78, Pt. II.)
which was the twelfth and youngest troop of General Drum-

* In his letter to the Privy Council, dated Oct. 29, 1667, the King writes : “ We
ghall speedily send them Commissions.,” ZTreasury Records, Vol. 1., Register House,
Edinburgh.

t The original Commission is in tho Editor’s possession. See facsimile in this
volume,
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mond’s aforesaid regiment. This same troop, up to the present
time, has, apparently, been entirely lost sight of. Lord Carnegie’s
cornet was Sir James Hume of Eccles. Within a week or two
of joining this troop, Hume got mixed up in a quarrel with the
Master of Ramsay; William Douglas, brother to the laird of
Blaikiston, and the laird of Spot, acted as seconds. All four
fought on Leith links. This internecine conflict resulted in
Sir James Hume receiving a mortal wound; and the three other
combatants did not come oft scatheless. William Douglas was
tried for the murder of Sir James Hume and found guilty. He
was executed at Edinburgh. An eye-witness writing from Edin-
burgh, 9th May, 1667, reports that: ¢ William Douglas, a sweet
and stately youth, not 21 years, a brave scholar and spirit, was
beheaded at the Market Cross and died very penitently.” *

An interesting letter from Lord Bellenden to Lauderdale,
now for the first time printed (p. 81, Pt. II.), brings to light the
new fact that an Independent Company, under Colonel Ludovic
Lesley, was raised to garrison the forts in Shetland during the
first Anglo-Dutch war (1665-1667) and was disbanded before the
close of 1667. The up-keep of the Shetland garrison seems to
have been a heavy burden to the Scottish treasury. ‘We have
not one farthing money left for dispatch of the most necessarie
and urgent occasion,” wrote Lord Bellenden to Lauderdale,
1st December, 1666, “so are we keept emptie handed for sup-
plying that cursed garison of Zetland.” ¢

We have referred elsewhere (p. 56) to the misleading descrip-
tion given in Old Mortality of the Duke of Monmouth’s forces
at Bothwell Bridge. Scott’s brilliant, though imaginary, account
has insensibly affected present-day historians when writing about
the easily-won victory of 22nd July, 1679. Here is an example.
The author of 4 Scots Earl in Covenanting Times, referring to
the proposed despatch of English troops under Monmouth, to
reinforce the Scots Army, writes: “In a very short time three
regiments of foot, three of horse, eight hundred dragoons, and

* Robert Mein to Williamson. S.P, Dom.
t Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 1., p. 253.
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three troops of grenadiers, together with cannon and ammuni-
tion sufficient, were on their way to the scene of insurrection.” *
It is quite true that a strong force of horse, dragoons, and foot
was ordered to be raised to accompany Monmouth to Scotland,
and commissions were issued 10th-11th June, 1679,1 to certain
officers in aforesaid contingent, but for political, as well as
financial, reasons the levy of the greater part of the troops in
question did not take place at all; and the English troops which
crossed the Scottish border did not exceed five troops of cavalry
(p- 56). The cannon promised by the English Government never
reached Scotland, and the ‘“complete train of field artillery ”
which Sir Walter Scott tells us ‘“accompanied Monmouth’s
army” was non-existent! We have it on the authority of
Lieut. John Slezer (pp. 44-45, Pt. II.), who commanded Mon-
mouth’s artillery at Bothwell Bridge, that he “obtained only
one Gunner to go along with four pieces of Canon (sic) besides
three men that were pressed from Leith who proved very unfit
for that service.” !

Whilst on the subject of the engagement at Bothwell
Bridge we may record, as new and interesting facts, that Sir
Thomas Armstrong (p. 121, Pt. I1.) and James Vernon (/bid.)
accompanied Monmouth to Scotland.  Armstrong was the
Duke’s fidus Achates and Vernon was Monmouth’s secretary.
It was at Bothwell Bridge that Vernon met Sir James Mont-
gomery § of Skelmorley. Nearly fifteen years later Montgomery
was arrested in London on suspicion; he might have escaped,
for his captors were uncertain of his identity, had not Mont-
gomery been immediately recognised by Vernon, then Under-
Secretary of State, when the plotting baronet was brought
before him.

* P, 235.

+ See Lists of Regiments ordered to be raised in Juue, 1679, given in Englisk
Army Lists and Commission Registers, 1661-1714, Vol. 1., pp. 255-6; also three
T'roops of Horse Grenadiers “ new raised forces for to go to Scotland.” Jbid., p. 261.

{ Sce Slezer's report to the Privy Council on ¢ Artillery Concerns™ given on
p- 56.

§ Aloxander Johustone, hrother of the Secretary, to the Earl of Anunandale,
9th January, 1693-94. Hist. MSS..Commission, Report X Y., Appx. Pt. 1X., pp. 62-63.
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Of the nine general officers who respectively commanded the
Scots Forces from 1661-1688, eight are included in the Dictionary
of National Biography. We may say that the condensed memoirs
of these eight Scottish generals are, with one exception,* excellent,
and have been more or less utilised in this present work. The
scissors and paste which reviewers always look for, and generally
find, on the littered-up writing tables of those who compile
historical works, have been freely used by us, and their results
are not concealed in the following pages, but openly pointed out.
We have spared no pains, however, to add fresh information from
reliable sources, documentary and otherwise, to the memoirs of
the eight generals in the Dictionary of National Biography as well
as to amplify the details, necessarily cut short, given therein. Let
us give as an example the memoir of General Thomas Dalyell of
Binns. No previous biographical notice of this remarkable soldier
has, so far as we know, recorded the fact that when the Scots
officers serving at Carrickfergus, in April, 1643, were required to
subscribe the Covenant, Major Thomas Dalyell was the only one
who refused to comply (p. 19). Five years later, Dalyell served
with Major-General George Monro’s Scottish and Irish contingent
in Duke Hamilton’s Army of “Engagers.” Where is this fact
mentioned in any previous memoir of Dalyell? This commander
is spoken of by the Earl of Angus, in a letter to the Laird of
Guthrie, 10th May, 1651, as the “stiff Irish Engager.” There
was a double reason for this happy expression. Dalyell had not
only come over from Ireland in the summer of 1648 to join the
‘“ Engagers,” but in August, 1650, he left Erin and landed with

* General Drummond’s memoir in the Dictionary of National Biography is inade-
quate, and misleading in several essential matters, First, Drummond was not
appointed Major-General in Scotland in Jan. 1666, and the references given to the
Cal. 8.P.D., 1666-7 (pp. 18 and 575) do not bear out the biograpber’s statement.
Secondly, Drummond was not restored to his post as Major-General after his release
from prison in Feb. 1675~6 ; but he did resume his Militia command in last-named
year. Thirdly, Drummond did not reeeive knighthood hetween 1678-1681. It was
Wm, Drommond of Hawthornden who was knighted by Charles II.  Fourthly, the
two references to the Egerton MSS. are misstated ; for “ Egerton MS. 15836,
f. 69b,” read “ Add. MS. 15856, f. 69b,” and “ Egerton MS., i. 368" refers to
“ Burnet's Iist. of His Own' Time, Vol. 1, p. 368.”
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Sir George Monro on the West Coast of Scotland to cast in his lot
with General Middleton, and the Royalists, who had signed the
“Northern Band and Oath of Engagement” (p. 37). Both
Dalyell and Monro were taken prisoners shortly afterwards in
Galloway, and having been forbidden to return to Scotland were
eonsidered by the General Assembly to have forfeited their lives.
We now give, and for the first time, we believe, contemporary
evidence of the aforesaid incident in the careers of two Com-
manders-in-Chief of the Scots Army :—

¢ Ane Collonel Daliel and Sir George Monrowe (sic),” writes Sir Edward Walker
in his Journal of Affairs in Scotlund, 1650, “being taken in Galloway, coming
out of Ireland, were only saved nbout the dispute of the place of their execution,
Sterling being lLeld the fittest, where they had defeated Argyle's men, * bnt they
are sinee happily escaped.” t

Again, no writer in the past appears to have referred to the
description of General Dalyell’s person, sent by order of the
Council of State to the authorities at certain English seaports,
with a view to Dalyell’s apprehension after his escape from the
Tower of London in May, 1652. We have thought it well to give
a facsimile of the “Order” in the Council of State’s Entry Book
for June, 1652, relating to this officer. The description of
Dalyell’'s appearance is meagre, but it goes some way to disprove
the often-repeated tradition that Dalyell never shaved his beard
after Charles I.’s execution. Beards do not appear to have been
in vogue with military men at the period in question. If Dalyell
had a beard when imprisoned in the Tower, it is very certain this
distinguishing appendage would have been named in the descrip-
tion furnished to officials at various seaports. And it goes with-
out saying that when once clear of the Tower Dalyell would have
shaved his beard so as to add to his disguise. One at least of
Dalyell’s biographers. { in the past, does not endorse the beard
tradition, as he points to the fact that there are two portraits of
the General in existence, one of which “ painted probably in 1675,

* On 12th Sept. 1648 ; see p. 36,
1 Printed in Sir Edward Walker’s Historical Discourses, p. 182,
{ Mr. T. I. Henderson.
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by Reilly, for the Duke of Rothes, and now in Leslie House,
Fifeshire, is without the beard.” *

Among the flotsam and jetsam in the manuscript department
of the British Museum is a neatly written MS. (20 small pages)
entitled, “Laws and Articles of War for the Government of his
Majestie’s Forces within the Kingdom of Scotland.” This MS.
bears the date, at the end, of “4 Jan. 1667.”” Many searchers, his-
torical and antiquarian, must have turned over the pages of these
‘““ Articles of War ” (pp. 84-94, Pt. IL.), but no one, to our know-
ledge, ever hazarded a statement in print as to who drew them
up. We are firmly convinced that they are the * Articles ”’ which
General Dalyell refers to in several letters (p. 94, Pt. I1.) to the
Earl of Lauderdale from 2nd October, 1666 to 15th January, 1667.
Under the first-named date Dalyell writes: ‘I shall send a draft
of articles so soon as I have communicated it to the Commissioner
who is at present in Fife.” In the last-named letter (15th Janu-
ary, 1667) Dalyell acknowledges receipt of the ‘ Articles,” and
promises to have them printed. It was customary for the
General commanding the forces in each of the three kingdoms to
draw up his own “Articles” on appointment.t As regards
Scotland, we find that when Sir George Monro was appointed to
the chief command of the Scots Army, in 1674, he followed
Dalyell’s example and sent a draft of the ‘ Articles” he had
drawn up to London to be ratified by the King, who returned the
same in due course.! We get a clear insight into Dalyell’s
character by reading the ¢ Articles ”’ he framed for the Scots Army,
and for this reason alone they have a distinct historical value.

In a subsequent chapter we have referred to the reprehensible
system of torturing prisoners; but we did not touch upon the

* Memoir in the Dictionary of National DBiography. An engraving from the
beardless portrait is given in Wodrow's magnrum opus, edit. 1828,

t The Duke of Albemarle drew up his own ¢ Artieles of War" when appointed
Captain-General in 1660 ; he also framed the “ Articles " for the army in Ireland, 1661,
being then nominal Commander-in-Chief in that kingdom. Cal. S.P. Ireland,1660-1662.

{ The Duke of Luuderdale in a letter to Sir George Monro, Major-General of the
Forces in Scotland, writes on 20 Oct. 1674 :—“ As soon as yon send nup the Articles
of War they shall be speedily dispatehed.” Cal. S.P.D., 1673-16735, p. 381.
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punishment inflicted upon the unfortunate Spence, a follower of
Argyll, by order of the Privy Council. We are in accord with
the author of A Scots Earl in his condemnation of the painful
ordeal to which Spence was subjected, but we cannot agree with
Mr. Wilcock in his remark that “General Dalziel . . . is surely
the most cold-blooded and revolting personage of that evil time.” *
Mr. Wilcock’s words seem to imply that Dalyell, to whom the
odious task of superintending Spence’s torture had been assigned
by the Chancellor, was the inventor of the cruel expedient
employed.t Perhaps Mr. Wilcock is unaware that it is a common
form of torture in China to keep prisoners awake and to rouse
them up just as they are dropping off to sleep. This special
torture is doubtless of great antiquity, and Dalyell must have
been well acquainted with this mode of extracting confessions
when serving ‘““at the back of Europe.” It isdifficult for present-
day historians and armchair critics to fully enter into the strong
party spirit and dominating passions which swayed the actors in
the historical events which we so calmly discuss. Those writers
who denounce Dalyell for his cruelty to Spence do the General
injustice, as they omit to record the fact that Dalyell sickened of
the torture to which Spence was subjected, never thinking that
this civilian prisoner would have shown such Spartan endurance.
Here is Dalyell’s own letter to the Earl of Mar written on
“3 Aug. 1684,” at the very time Spence was undergoing his
trying ordeal :—
¢ Since the Chancellor and Treasurer went to the Shank yesterday, I have had
the phisician and chirurgion with him [Spence] who say if he be not eas'd
with some sleep he will go mad; and then all hopes of confession is gone.

But I mind to make myself quitt of this employment, since they have rob’d me
of a more honorable one as the eénclosed paper will show your Lordship.” }

The gentleman who prepared the Earl of Mar and Kellie’s
MSS. for publication refers, in his Introduction, to Spence’s

* A Scots Earl, p. 315.

t Bishop Burnet wrote: ‘A new species of torture was invented ; he was kept
from sleep " (Ifist. of my own Time, Edit. 1823, Vol. II., p. 417). We do not believe
that any torture made use of in the 17th century was new !—Ed. g

t MSS. of the Earl of Mar and Kellie at Alloa House, p. 216.
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torture, and remarks that General Dalyell’s letter ““indicates the
disgust of that soldier at some of the work he was engaged on.” *
It has been said that the lines on Dalyell in Lag’s Elegy, repre-
senting the General—
“ Wringing the bluid frae aff his hands,
And scourin’ them in brumstane

afford a very fine example of Scottish writing; + but, taken as a
whole, the elegy itself is far inferior as a poetic production to the
beautiful elegiac verses to Dalyell, written by an anonymous
hand, at an unknown date, and quoted in this volume (pp. 65-66).

Fate decreed that on the death of Lieut.-General Wm. Drum-
mond (Viscount Strathallan) in March, 1688, the command of
the Scots Army devolved on the Hon. James Douglas (pp. 78-87),
Colonel of the Foot Guards, who, as Master-General of the
Ordnance, had the rank of Lieut.-General. Douglas’s appoint-
ment was far from popular with either the officers or the rank
and file. He was brave and patriotic; also a hard-worker who
never spared himself. But Douglas’s over-weening pride, coupled
with his fussy and fidgety ways, marred everything. Had
Lord Strathallan’s mantle fallen on Claverhouse’s capable
shoulders there would, in all probability, have been fewer
deserters from the Foot Guards to the Prince of Orange’s camp
(pp. 82-83). We have purposely omitted in this volume to
descant on Claverhouse’s minor services with his Troop and Regt.
of Horse. Indeed we have nothing new to add to Professor
Sandford Terry’s admirable biography of Viscount Dundee, whose
life story may be summed up in the words: *This was a man.” }
The biography in question throws new light on incidents in
Claverhouse’s career which have been purposely exaggerated and
distorted by acrid writers. Take as an example the shooting
of John Brown, of Priesthill, by Claverhouse’s orders, on
1st May, 1685. Professor Terry’s research into this case has
disclosed the fact that the *Christian carrier” was not the

* MSS. of the Earl of Mar and Kellie at Alloa House, p. xxi.

t Memoir of Sir Robert Grierson of Lag, by Lt.-Colonel Alex. Fergusson,

} Napoleon must have had this quotation from Shakespeare in his mind’s eye when
he said to Goethe :—** Mousieur Goethe vous étes un homme.”
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guileless Nathaniel as portrayed by Wodrow. Brown had to use
arms against the Government, and when captured would not swear
to keep the peace in future. ‘Bullets and match” were found
in his house, also *treasonable papers.” He was a rebel in every
sense of the word. There is some slight analogy between the case
of John Brown the Christian carrier and that of his American
namesake, John Brown the Abolitionist. Each knowingly, and
wilfully, broke the laws of the country to which he owed allegiance,
and each suffered an ignominious death. Each was, speaking
metaphorically, canonised by those of his own party who were in
search of a battle-cry to stimulate popular feeling. It may be
truly said of both these so-called martyrs that—

“John Brown’s hody lies a-mouldering in the grave,
But his sonl is marching on.”

When James VII. ascended the throne he issued fresh Com-
missions to all the officers of the Scots Army. Argyll’s rebellion
gave the King an excuse for adding a new Company to the Foot
Guards (p. 147, Pt. IL.), and also to the Earl of Mar’s Regiment
(p. 154, Pt. I1.). Three special service officers were sent from
England in May, 1685, with the Earl of Dumbarton (pp. 67-69),
who was appointed Commander-in-Chief in Scotland. = The three
officers in question were Captain George Barclay, Lt.-Colonel
Thomas Maxwell, and Captain Charles Carney. The first, who
had seen service in France, was appointed ‘ Inspector of the
Forces throughout Scotland,” and had two Commissions of same
date (2nd May, 1685) : “to be Governor of James Fort,* appointed
to be built near Stirling Bridge,” and ‘‘ Captain of an Independent
Company to garrison James Fort” (p. 162, Pt. II.). Barclay
became notorious, in 1696, as the instigator of the plot to
assassinate William III. Maxwell (p. 167, Pt. I1.), who was sent
to serve under the Duke of Gorden in the Highlands, as A.D.C.
and “adviser,” had a more honourable career. He served King
James in Ireland as a general officer, and after the ‘capitulation

* This fort was never built, and the Independent Company to garrison the same
was added to the Foot Guards, Major Robert Middleton taking Barelay’s place as
Captain of the Company.
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of Limerick he passed over to France with two regiments of
dragoons. In 1693 General Maxwell was killed at the battle of
Marsaglia, in Piedmont. Captain (afterwards Sir Charles) Carney,
who had also seen service in France, was given command of the
newly-raised Company of Guards. On the 31st December, 1686,
Sir Charles Carney was appointed Lt.-Colonel of the Scots
Dragoons (p. 145, Pt. II.), also Inspector of the Forces in
Scotland, ‘ excepting our Royal Regiment of Horse Guards and
our Royal Regiment of Horse.” His pay as Inspector was £100
per annum.* Sir Charles Carney commanded King James’s Re-
serve at the Battle of the Boyne, where he held the rank of
Major-General. He was attainted of high treason, 2nd July, 1696.
It may be truly said of James VII. that he had the real interest
of his Army at heart, and knew a good soldier when he met one.
Claverhouse had been the King’s protégé from the time that the
former joined the Scots Army as a Captain of Horse. And John
Churchill, the great Duke of Marlborough, owed his advancement
in the Army to the monarch whom he deserted at the Revoluation.
There is something very pathetic in the letter which King
James wrote to the Privy Council of Scotland from Whitehall,
29th November, 1688 :—
“ Wee have sent this Express to inform you that on the 24th of this instant
the Duke of Grafton & the Lord Churchill t went off from Us at Salisbury,
& on the 25th Prince George of Denmark left Us at Andover, when Wee were
deserted by the Duke of Ormond, the Earl of Drumlanrig, and several others.
All which Wee had reason to wonder at. But above all, when at Qur arrival at
this place, on Monday night, Wee found Qur dearest Daughter the Princess Aun
of Denmark was gone likewise though as yet Wee know not whither nor on what
pretext.”}
At the commencement of November, 1688, the whole Scots
Army (excepting the small train of Artillery which had returned
to Edinburgh from Carlisle in October), numbering 3,763 officers

* Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol. XI.

t “The Earl of Middleton writes in indignant terms to Viset. Preston of Lord
Churchill’s defection, aud tells his lordship, by the King’s command, to seize his
goods and furniture, hoth at the Cockpit and at St. Albavs.”—ZHist. MSS.Commission,
Report VII., Pt. 1L, p. 261 b.

} Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol, X111,
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and men, was quartered in London.* This force included Colonel
John Wauchope’s Regiment of Scots Foot (p. 1568, Pt. IL.), raised
in March, 1688, and chiefly officered by Scotsmen who had thrown
up their Commissions in the Scots Brigade, in Holland, to serve
their lawful Sovereign at home. Wauchope served King James
in Ireland as a Major-General, and fell at Marsaglia in 1693.

The Revolution brought about a change in the British Army
both as regards Scotland and Ireland. The Standing Armies of
these two kingdoms ceased to exist as purely Scottish and Irish
defensive forces. From 1689 there was but one Army for the
British Isles. England, Scotland, and Ireland had each its own
Establishment; but the Regiments composing the British Army
were stationed indiscriminately in each of the three kingdoms
regardless of nationality. It is a noteworthy fact that the Scots
Foot Guards, which saw service in Flanders under William III.,
and then returned to Scotland, came on the English Establishment
in 1708, and has never since been north of the Tweed.

CHARLES DALTON.

* Marching Orders, 1st November, 1688. War Office MS. at Public Record
Office.







THE SCOTS ARMY
1661-1688

CHAPTER 1
THE PERSONNEL OF THE SCOTS ARMY

 Soldiers have an undoubted right to claim
The greatest honours and the most lasting name.”

SCOTLAND’S Standing Army consisted of a mere handful of Troops from
1661 to 1666. In the summer of the latter year the exigencies of circum-
stances necessitated a material increase to his Majesty’s forces.

The officers appointed to the new-raised levies during the early years
of the Restoration were mostly veterans who had served in the Civil
Wars of Charles I. Some had fought with Montrose, while others
had served against him. In this same little army were to be found
“Engagers” who had marched into Lancashire under the Duke of
Hamilton, and had suffered defeat at Preston by Cromwell. There
were also not a few devoted Royalists who had fought at Dunbar and
Worcester. Nor must we omit those tried soldiers who had shared in
the hardships of Lord Glencairn’s expedition and in General Middleton’s
defeat at Loch Garry. Lastly, there were representatives in Charles II.’s
Scots Army of some of the oldest and noblest families north of the Tweed
who had served with the Scots Brigade in Holland and with the old Scots
Regiment (the present Royal Scots) in France.

It is an indisputable fact that the Scots Army from the Restoration to
the Revolution has received scant justice at the hands of Scottish writers
in general. We may go still further and say that both officers and soldiers
have been handed down to posterity by Covenanting writers, and
apologists, as cruel and relentless persecutors. Take for instance the
Rev. Robert Wodrow’s magnum opus on The Sufferings of the
Church of Scotland. This labour of love, which was not published till
1726, was chiefly founded on hearsay evidence and the contemporary
works, and pamphlets, of Covenanters who well knew how to blacken
their enemies’ characters. As a literary compilation, Mr. Wodrow’s book
is entitled to our respect, for every page bears witness to conscientious
labour and research ; nay more, the mass of documents quoted at length,
such as Royal Proclamations and Acts of the Privy Council, are of great
historical value ; but many of the ““ military atrocities”” which are detailed
at length in the aforesaid work must be taken, in many instances, as gross
exaggerations. Of course there are some well-authenticated cases of

A
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barbarity. It was a cruel age and the Scots as a people were by no means
behind other nations in this respect. It has been truly said that ““ war is
the outcome of the bitterest of man’s passions.” The guerilla warfare
carried on in the West of Scotland during the reigns of Charles II. and
James VII. had a very demoralising effect, not only on those in open
rebellion against their King, aud his Government, but on the troops to
whose unhappy lot fell the odious task of hunting down, capturing, and in
some cases executing by martial law those who had voluntarily placed
themselves outside the pale.

Before leaving the subject of the so-called military atrocities, we must
remark on the misleading description of Scots officers given in many of the
contemporary epitaphs to those Covenanters, and Cameronians, who had lost
their lives either in, or after, action, or on the gibbet. It is only natural
that the men who suffered death for conscience’ sake should have been
dubbed martyrs by their own party ; and certain it is that they met their
deaths, in whatever form it might take, with unflinching courage. But
for the friends and relatives of these martyrs to compose doggerel epitaphs
which, in many cases, heap abuse on the heads of the officers who only
carried out their instructions from the Privy Council, was not in accord
with the tenets of the Sermon on the Mount which it behoved these hill-
preachers to practise.

The sanguinary adjective prefixed to the names of Scots officers, from
the rank of Commander-in-Chief! to Subaltern,® on some of thetombstones
to martyred Covenanters, is as puerile as the challenge which children
were wont to call in at the keyhole of the gate to Sir George Mackenzie
of Rosehaugh’s massive monument in Greyfriars Churchyard :—

¢ Bluidy Mackinyie, come oot if ye daur,
Lift the sneck and draw the bar!”

* * * * * * *

It has been asserted that the Cromwellian forces cleared out of Scot-
land a few months after the Restoration.® This is erroneous. An undated
petition to Charles II., in 1660, from ‘ the Noblemen, Gentlemen and
Burgesses of Scotland, met at London,” prayed his Majesty “ that all the
English forces may. be removed out of Scotland, before the sitting of the
Parliament, and that your Majestie employ such of your Scots subjects as
you sall (sic) thinke fit for securing of the garisons and the peace of the
kingdome.”* In reply, the King promised to remove the forces as soon as

! In the parish of Mauchline isa tomhstone thus inscribed :—

“ Bloody Dumbarton, Douglas, and Dundee,
Moved by the Devil and the Laird of Lee,
Dragg’d these five men to Death with gun and sword,
Not suffering them to Pray nor Read God's Word ;
Owning the Work of God was all their crime,
The Eighty-Five was a Saint Killing Time.”

* Avondale parish churchyard has a tombstone with this epitaph :—

“ Here lie two martyrs severally who fell
By Captain Inglis and by bloody Bell ;
Posterity shall know, they’re shot to death
As sacrifices unto Popish wrath.”

* See Wodrow's Sufferings of the Church of Scotland, Vol. I. (1828 edit.), pp. 85 and 242 ;
also the memoir of Sir Thomas Morgan in the Dict. of Nat. Biag.
¢ The Lauderdale Papers (edited by Osmund Airy), Vol. 1., p. 33.
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possible! It was owing to the Earl of Lauderdale’s influence with the

King that the four citadels built in Scotland by Cromwell, viz.—Ayr,

Perth, Inverness, and Leith were ordered to be dismantled. The citadel at

Ayr was given.to Hugh, Earl of Eglinton as a reward for past services;-

Perth to the magistrates of the town; Inverness to the Earl of Murray;

and Leith to the Earl of Lauderdale in May, 1662. The garrisons of the

three first citadels were removed about September, 1660; but in conse-

quence of the large arrears of pay due to the English forces,? two Regiments

of Foot and a Troop of Horse® were retainedin Scotland, mostly at Leith,

till the spring of 1662. The Mercurius Publicus of 8th-15th May, 1662,
contains the following notice:—

¢ Leith Cittadel * in Scotland May 3.

“ Yesterday Major General Morgan drew forth his regiment of Foot consisting

1,000 proper men besides officers from the Cittadel of Leith, and made a short

speech to the Officers and Souldiers, acquainting them how great a value his

Majesty had of them, and what care was taken for their present supply both of

money and clothes, with assurance of speedy payment of their Arrears ; that his

Majesty had been graciously pleased to design them for honourable service abroad,

and that he himself (who had so long commanded them in that Country) resolved

to ship with them, and made no doubt of their readiuess to so honorable an'

expedition. Whereupon notone man expressing the least unwillingness, they all

with great acclamations of joy, both Officers and Souldiers cried out A, All, All,

to follow him to serve their King and Countrey and so marcht back again into

the Cittadel where he gave the Souldiers money to drink his Majesties Health.””

Before taking leave of General Morgan it will not be irrelevant to give
a few details regarding the military career of this distinguished soldier,
who was Commander-in-Chief of the English forces in Scotland for two,

ears.

y Thomas Morgan was second son of Robert Morgan of Llanrhymny.
He served in the Low Countries and under Bernard of Saxe Weimar in the
Thirty Years’ War. In March, 1644, we find a Major Morgan in Fairfax’s
Army who is described as “expert in sieges.” And ‘“one Morgan, one of
Sir Thomas Fairfax his colonels, a little man short and peremptory ” took
partin the siege of Latham House in 1644. On 18th June, 1645, Morgan,
who is described as “ Colonel of Dragoons late under the command of
the Lord Fairfax,” was appointed by Parliament, Governor of Gloucester. In
1645, Morgan took Chepstow Castle and Monmouth; the same year he
took part in the surprise of Hereford and personally led the Horse. In
conjunction with Colonel Birch and Sir W. Brereton, Morgan defeated, on
21st March, 1646, at Stow-on-the-Wold, the last Army which the King had
in the field. He served also at the siege of Raglan Castle in June and July

! The Lauderdale Papers (edited by Osmund Airy), Vol. L., p. 33.

2 ¢ Proceedings in the House of Lords, 20 May, 1661, on the reading by the Lord Chan-
cellor of a letter from the Parliament of Scotland to the King, when hislordship explained
that the letter was referred to them because the English Troops not yet disbanded in
Scotland are £30,000 in arrears, on which a conference with the Commons was ordered to
consider some speedy mode of paying the same” (Lords’ Journals). *‘ Order for a Warrant
to pay to Sir Thomas Morgan, Commander of the forces in Scotland, £13,161 fora month’s
pay for 100 horse and two regiments of foot, 21 Feh. 1662. Cal. 8.P. Dom.

3 Under date of December, 1666, is the Petition of Francis Kelly “for payment of
£264 14s. 2d. due to him for service in Scotland as Capt. Lieut. of Sir T. Morgan’s Troop
of Horse which at his Majesty's command he transported at great expense to Portugal.”
Cal. S.P. Dom. \

¢ Sir Andrew Ramsay, Lord Provost, was induced by Lauderdale to buy thesite of Leith
Citadel, for the town of Edinburgh, for £5,000.

A2
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same year. In 1651, Morgan was with Monk in Scotland, who requested
Cromwell to send down a commission for Morgan to be Colonel of Dragoons.
Morgan took Dunottar Castle after a three weeks’ siege, 26th May, 1652, and
was actively employed against Lord Glencairn and General Middleton in
1653-1654.

Early in 1654, Morgan took the strong castle of Kildrummie, and on
19th July signally defeated Middleton at Loch Garry. Morgan was promoted
Major-General and returned to London in the spring of 1657 whither he
had been summoned by Cromwell to take part in the expedition sent to the
assistance of the French in Flanders. Major-General Morgan was second
in command of the English contingent at the taking of Mardyke from the
Spaniards in 1657. Was wounded at the storming of St. Venant. At the
battle of the Dunes, 4th June, 1658, Generals Lockhart and Morgan captured
Dunkirk. Morgan subsequently served in Turenne’s Army and was
wounded at the taking of Ypres. He was knighted by the Protector
Richard Cromwell 25th November, 1658. Rejoined Monk in Scotland and
reorganised the English Cavalry in that kingdom. When Monk commenced
his famous march from Coldstream to London, in 1660, Morgan accom-
panied his chief as far as York. In the list of the Troops which accom-
panied Monk from Scotland, we find General Morgan’s Regiment of Horse
and Regiment of Foot. Monk’s chaplain, Gumble, thus refers to Morgan’s
Regiments: “Major-General Morgan’s Horse: this had been sinful
dragoons, but now converted into troops; yet some turned apostates.”
‘““Major-General Morgan’s Foot, which had been Daniel’s, now given him
for his service at this time.”

From York, Morgan returned to Scotland with his two Regiments. As
Commander-in-Chief, Morgan took a conspicuous part in celebrating
Charles IT’s birthday at Edinburgh, 19th June, 1660, and fired off Mons
Meg with his own hand.! On 1st February, 1661, Charles II. created
General Morgan a baronet. And when the Anglo-Dutch war broke out
in 1665, the King appointed Sir Thomas Morgan Governor of Jersey, in
which post he displayed the same military science and energy that had
distinguished him during his long and eminent career. He is believed
to have died in 1679, and was succeeded by his son Sir John Morgan, who
became Colonel of the Welsh Fusiliers in 1692.

! The account of General Morgan is chiefly taken from Professor Firth’s scholarly memoir
of the General in the Dict. of Nat. Biog. The following Civil War Tracts have also fur-
nished information, viz. * Colonel Morgan’s Letter concerning his taking the strong Gar-
rison of Kildrummie from the Highlanders in Scotland ; with his Letter and Summons
sent to Major Drummend, Major Drummond’s Answer thereunto . . . . And a great Fight
at Dunkill . . . . By J. Hill, Secretary to Collonel Morgan, 1654.” * The Bloudy Field, or
the Great Engagement of the English and Scottish Forcesbeyond Stirling ; with the manner
how Major Gen. Massey’s Lieu. colonel led on the Forlorn Hope against Col. Mergan and
charged each other with ahundance of Ceurage and Resolution . ... 1654." “A true
Relation of the Routing of Middleton’s Army in Scetland, as it was presented to His
Highness the Lord Protector in two Letters, one from General Monck, and the other from
Col. Morgan, 1654.” General Morgan's Memoirs for the years 1657 and 1658 are printed in
the Harleian Miscellany (Vol. II1.) but in some parts are considered apocryphal. Morgan’s
account of the taking of Ypres reads like trnth—three half-moons covered with cannen had
to be taken by assault, two were carried hy the English red-coats * whe threw the enemy
into the moat and turned the cannon npon the town.” The French were repulsed in their
attack on the other half-moon. Morgan ordered his officers and men to assist their French
allies. The soldiers cried, * Shall we fall on in order, or happy-go-lucky ?” Their General
8aid, “ In the name of God, goat it happy-go-lucky,” and “immediately the red-coats fell on
and were on the top of it knocking the enemy down and casting them into the moat ;" the
counterscarp waa speedily captured, and next morning Ypres surrendered.
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CHAPTER 11

THE EARL OF MIDDLETON
CAPTAIN-GENERAL OF THE FORCES
1661-1663

PARLIAMENT was opened in state by the Earl of Middleton on 1st January,
1661, and on Friday the 18th “it was agreed that a Troop of Horse be
raised for guarding the Lord Commissioner and Parliament, to assist the
Parliament in putting their Acts in execution against disobedient persons,
which the Commissioner was desired to acquaint his Majesty with.” In
the Mercurius Publicus of 21st-28th March, 1661, is this notice :—¢ Edin-
burgh, March 21. On Tuesday next the Troop which is now levying
under the command of the Lord Newburgh will make their appearance at
Edinburgh consisting of 120 men of good experience and known Loyalty.”
Thus was formed the Troop of Life Guards which eventually became
the 4th (Scots) Troop of Life Guards and survived till 25th December, 1746,
when it was disbanded. One of the first notable ceremonies in which the
Life Guards took part was on 14th May, when the scattered limbs of
Montrose—The Great Marquis—were honorably interred in St. Giles’s
Church. “The Militia of the City and Life Guard of Horse attended the
Lord Commissioner at that solemnity.”! The cynicism of fate decreed
that Middleton should be the chief mourner at the obsequies of his
quondam foe, a party of whose soldiers had, in 1645, killed Middleton’s
old father when the latter was sitting by his own fireside. But no one
knew better than Middleton that the commander is not responsible for
outrages committed by stray soldiers when out of sight of their officers.
The protracted stay in Scotland of Sir Thomas Morgan, and his
soldiers, delayed the levying of the Foot Guards till the summer of 1662.
Sir James Turner, in his Memoirs, describes the origin of the Regiment :—

“In August, 1662, My Lord Commissioner, the Earl of Middleton, by his
Majesty’s express command ordered Colonel Urry and myself to raise each of ua
a Company of Foot. The third the King has ordained for my Lord Clermont ;3
but his father taking it upon him to be his tutor gave the companie to Major
Thomsone. Shortly after, the Duke of Lenox raised a companie for Dumbarton,
and the Earl of Mar another for Stirling Castle. All five marched in September
to Glasgow.”

In addition to the five Companies of Foot Guards, Edinburgh Castle
was garrisoned by an Independent Company, and Lord Middleton had his
own Troop of Horse which took rank after the King’s Life Guards. The

! Mercurius Publicus, 16th-23rd May, 1661. Itisrecorded inthe History of Hemingbrough,
that one of the withered arms of the gallant Montrose, which had been exhibited, in 1650,
over the gate of Perth, or Stirling, but had probably been stolen, was, circa 1748, in the
possession of Mr. John Graham, a landowner in Hemingbrough parish. P. 206.

? Son and heir of the Earl of Middleton. Succeeded his father in 1673 as 2nd Earl.
One of the Principal Secretaries of State for Scotland 26th September, 1682, and one of the
Extraordinary Lords of Session 15th July, 1684. Adhered to James VII. and was outlawed.
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Military Establishment for Scotland under Lord Middleton’s régime is not
forthcoming but is thus referred to, among matters of more weighty
import, in ““ Privat Instructions to Sir Robeit Moray, which he is desired
to represent humbly to the King himself,”! as follows: “There stand
charged [on the revenue] two troups of hors and 6 companies of foot:
Secondly,we are informed that his Majestie signd ane establishment for those
troups much greater than ever Scotland knew . . . It is also informed
that the pay of this Establishment will exhaust 32,000 lib stlin by year.”

The “instructions ” to Sir Robert Moray, Scottish Secretary in London,
were framed and written by Lauderdale, but signed by the Earl of Rothes
who had been appointed the King’s High Commissioner to the Scottish
Parliament in June, 1663. The document in question made grave charges
against Lord Middleton as a statesman, and culminated in his dismissal
from all his high posts. The why and the wherefore of Middleton’s
disgrace are narrated in the following sketch of this great soldier’s
checkered career.? i

John Middleton, born 1619, was the eldest son of Robert Middleton of
Caldhame, Kincardineshire. He began his career as a pikeman in Hep-
burn’s Regiment in the service of France. This fact in no way proves
that he was, as has been asserted, of mean birth; it was a common thing
for young men of good family to enter the ranks of a crack Corps and
work upwards. In 1639, Middleton became a Captain in Montrose’s Army
which made a triumphant entry into Aberdeen, 30th March, 1639. “ Upon
the morne,” writes a contemporary chronicler, ‘“being Saturday, they
came in order of battell, well armed both on horse and foot, ilk horseman
‘having five shot at the least, with ane carabine in his hand, two pistolls
by his sydes and other two at his saddell toir (sic) ; the pikemen in their
ranks with pike and sword; the musketiers in their ranks with musket,
musket staffe, bandelier, sword, powder, ball and match; ilk company,
both on horse and foot, had their Captains, lieutenants, ensignes, serjeants,
and other officers and commanders, all for the most part in buff coats and
in goodly order. They had five colours or ensignes: whereof the Earl of
Montrose had one, having this motto, ‘ For Religion, The Covenant, and
the Countrie” They had trumpeters to ilk company of horsemen, and
drummers to ilk company of footmen . . . Here is to be notted, that few
or none of this haill army wanted ane blew ribbin hung about his craig,
downe under his left arme, which they called The Covenanters’ Ribbin.
But the Lord Gordon, and some others of the Marquess’® bairnes and
familie, had ane ribbin, when he was dwelling in the town, of ane reid
flesh cullor, which they wore in their hatts and called it 7he Royall
Ribbin as a signe of their love and loyalltie to the King. In despyte and
derision thereof, this blew ribbin was worne and called The Cavalier's
Ribbin be [by] the haill souldiers of the army and would not hear of the
royall ribbin ; such was their pryde and malice.” *

! Lauderdale Papers, Vol. I, p. 170. The document in question is dated from * Holy-
rude hous, last July, 1663.”
. ? The chief authorities for this sketch are :—*“Memoir of the Farl of Middleton” in
the Dict. of Nat. Biog. ; A. Biscoe’s Lives of the Earls of Middleton; Burton's History of
Scotland ; A. Cameron’s Fettercairn ; Douglas's Peerage of Scotland ; Cromwell's Scotch Cam-
paigns, by W. 8. Douglas ; Professor Firth's Scotland and the Protectorate ; The Lauderdale
Papers, edited by Osmund Airy; Sir George Mackenzie’s Affairs of Scotland; John
Nicoll's Diary ; Pepys's Diary ; The Spottiswoode Miscellany, Vol. II.

? George, 2nd Marquis of Huntly. ~Beheaded 30th March, 1649.

¢ John Spalding's History of the troubles and memorable transactions in Scotland, 1624-5.
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Viscount Aboyne had blockaded the Bridge of Dee to prevent the
Covenanting Army entering Aberdeen. A fight took place in which the
Royalist Troops were worsted. Sir John Seton of Pitmedden is said to
have been slain by Middleton.

“ His name was Major Middleton
That manned the bridge of Dee ;
His name was Colonel Henderson
That dung Pitmedden in three.”?

In 1642, Middleton entered the English Parliamentary Army and was
made Major-General after Edgehill. Commanded a large body of cavalry
at the second battle of Newbury and by his bravery contributed to the
King’s defeat. In 1644, when Middleton resigned his commission, in
consequence of the “ Self-denying Ordinance,” he held the rank of Lieut.-
General in Sir William Waller’s Army. He then joined the Covenanting
forces and was second in coinmand to Sir David Leslie at the battle of
Philiphaugh where Montrose was routed. The Estates rewarded Middleton
with 25,000 merks and the command of the forces in Scotland. He pur-
sued Montrose, burnt the latter’s castle of Kincardine, and carried fire and
sword through Aberdeenshire and parts adjacent. When Charles I.
ordered Montrose to disband his forces, Middleton negotiated terms with
the Great Marquis and is said to have granted better conditions than were
approved of by the Assembly. In 1647, Middleton repressed a Royalist
rising under the Marquis of Huntly. On 11th May, 1648, he was com-
missioned Lieut.-General of Horse by the Committee of Estates, in that
army composed of “ Engagers,” under the Duke of Hamilton, raised to
rescue Charles I. from the Cromwellians, ‘but to keep up the Covenant.”
Middleton was wounded at Mauchline Moor, in June, 1648, while dispersing
2,000 extreme Covenanters who resented the Government’s “ Engagement ”
policy. He distinguished himself in action at Preston, Lancashire, where
he was wounded and taken prisoner. Sent to Newcastle and imprisoned
there, but made his escape. After the execution of Charles 1., Middleton
headed a Royalist rising in the Highlands which was unsuccessful. The
General Assembly threatened Middleton with excommunication, “but
having pleaded his own cause in person was allowed to sign the declar-
ation and acknowledgment’ presented to these who had taken part in the
Engagement.”? In July, 1650, Middleton joined Charles IIL. in Scotland,
but the former, resenting the humiliating conditions imposed upon the
young monarch by the Committee of Assembly and the Estates, raised
a Royalist force in the north of Scotland known in history as ¢ The
Northern Band and Oath of Engagement.” This force was joined by
several of the most powerful Scottish nobles with their adherents, but
Cromwell’s victory at Dunbar over Leslie called for united action against
the invader, and the “ostracised Royalists” returned to the Covenanting
fold. Charles bowed to his fate and was crowned King on the basis of
the Covenants, 1st January, 1651. Middieton was “banned for Malig-
nancy.” He wasexcommunicated by James Guthrie® Minister of Stirling,
against the advice of influential Covenanters, and did penance in sackcloth
in the Church of Dundee, 11th January, 1651.

! Scottish Ballads and Songs, edited by James Maidment, Vol. L., p. 290.

? Dict. of Nat. Biog. . ;

3 James Guthrie was beheaded at Edinburgh, 1st June, 1661. His execution has been
considered an act of revenge by Middleton.
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As Major-General of the Horse, Middleton distinguished himself at the
battle of Worcester by driving back a wing of Cromwell’s Army and was
wounded. He was taken prisoner and sent to the Tower. Cromwell
destined him for execution ; but Middleton escaped from the Tower, in his
wife’s clothes, and joined Charles II. at Paris in the antumn of 1652. The
exiled monarch appointed Middleton Commander-in-Chief of the Royalist
forces to be raised in Scotland. He left Paris in January, 1653, and
took with him a number of blank Commissions signed by King Charles
which he (Middleton) was authorised to fill in with the names of officers
who joined the Royal Standard. One of these exceeding rare documents,
on vellum, is still in existence.) Before proceeding to Scotland, Middleton
went to The Hague to try and raise money from the States of Holland
for his master’s cause. It was not till January, 1654, that Middleton left
Holland for Scotland with sixty Scots officers, ammunition, and a small
supply of ready money. On his arrival, Middleton found a goodly
Royalist force in arms under the Earl of Glencairn whom Middleton
appointed his second in command. The combined forces fought with
Monk’s Troops on several occasions. But on 19th July, Middleton was
defeated at Loch Garry by Colonel Morgan with the loss of his “white
charger, gold, papers, and all his baggage.” Middleton endured many
hardships in the fastnesses of the Highlands, and in the Western Islands,
before making peace overtures to General Monk in January, 1655.
Monk’s conditions were so hard that Middleton would not accept them for
himself, and in April, 1655, succeeded in escaping to Emden on board a
friendly ship. He joined Charles 1I. at Cologne. In 1656, and 1657,
Middleton was employed by the exiled monarch on a mission to the town
of Dantzic where he was to try and raise troops, arms, and the sinews of
war. In this difficult task he had the co-operation of Major James Turner
and other Scots officers some of whom had been in the service of Poland.
We are told that «Middleton was well received at Dantzic and raised a
few men, but the want of money reduced him to great straits, and he was
obliged to disband them again.”?

At the Restoration Middleton returned to England on the same ship
with Charles II. On 1st October, 1660, the King created this faithful
soldier Viscount Clermont and Fettercairn, and Earl of Middleton by
Letters Patent. The same month, Middleton was appointed Governor of
Edinburgh Castle and a few weeks later Captain-General of the Forces in
Scotland, also Lord High Commissioner to the Parliament. A con-
temporary Scottish diarist thus refers to Middleton’s rise to power :—

“ And heir is to be ohservit the singular respectis that the Kingis Majestie
haid to this Erle of Middletou for his service done to the King in his troubles in
raising him from a sodjer and maid him a Major [General], thairefter maid him a
Lord called Fettercairne, thairefter ane Erle and now preferrit him to be his
Commissioner in Parliament, quhair he wes honored of all his Majesteis subjectis
for the tyme to his down cuming and attending the Parliament thcre wes great
provigion and allowance of money and apparell, horses, kotches, and other
furnitour allotted. Besides he had allowit to him for his table per diem nine
hundred merk Scottis,” 3

! A fac-simile of this Commission is given as an illustration., The original is in the
Editor’s possession.

2 Scotland and the Protectorate, p. 342 note.

! John Nicoll's Diary, 1650-1667, p. 311.
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In the autumn of 1662, Middleton made a “ progress” to the West of
Scotland accompanied by the Scottish forces.! His popularity was gone.
In the exercise of his high office as Lord Commissioner, Middleton had,
with the aid of his faction, engineered through Parliament the Acts of
Indemnity, Billeting, and Fining. The Duke of Lennox, the Earl of Dum-
fries, and Lord Tarbut were sent to the King with these Acts. Charles is
said to ‘ have thrown the Act of Billeting into his Cabinet declaring he
could not follow their advice but at the same time would not betray their
secret.”3 The Act in question was “a clause to the Indemnity Act by
which twelve persons, to be selected by Ballot, should be excepted from
public service.” ® Middleton had devised this plan for shelving some of
his political rivals * and by unsparing corruption had succeeded in placing
Lauderdale, Sir Robert Moray, and Lord Crawford among the twelve.”*
Lauderdale was too astute for Middleton. The former explained the
purport of the Act to the King and said, *“ What if they billet me, sir?2”
Charles answered that the billeters could not meddle with his servants.
But Lauderdale told the King that he was actually billeted, and the Act
was passed by the Commissioner without consulting his Majesty.® This
was the real cause of Middleton’s disgrace and not, as has been supposed,
his arbitrary measures for re-introducing Episcopacy into Scotland—
particularly the Act passed by him and the Privy Council at Glasgow,
1st October, 1662, “by which the clergy who refused to conform to
episcopacy were deprived of their benefices.”® This meeting of Council
was named by the Glasgow citizens “The Drunken Parliament” and is
thus referred to by Sir Walter Scott :—

“ When the Scottish Parliament met the Members were, in many instances,
under the influence of wine, and they were more than ever obliged to adjourn
because the Royal Commissioner (Middleton) was too intoxicated to behave pro-
perly in the Chair.”’

The Sequel to the Act passed by the Drunken Parliament will be told
in a subsequent chapter.

Middleton resigned his Commission as Captain-General® 5th January,
1664, and went to reside at Guildford with his friend Thomas Dalmahoy
who had married the widow of William, Duke of Hamilton. Middleton
was too good a soldier to be kept long unemployed. On 30th June, 1666,
he was appointed Lieut.-General of all the Militia Forces in Kent and was
given a Troop of Horse in 1667. The following May, Middleton was made
Governor of Tangier and Colonel of the Tangier Regiment. He died at
Tangier in 1678, the result of a fall downstairs.

14 Edinburgh Agt. 4, 1662. The Lord Commissioner is gone hence towards Glascow
attended with three Companies of Foot, his Guard of Horse and the Earl of Newburgh's
Troupe.” Mercurius Publicus, 9th-15th October, 1662.

3 The Cromarty Book, Vol. 1., p. Ixxxviii.

: ;I}\Iemoir of Lord Middleton ” in Dict. of Nat. Biog.

id.

* The Cromarty Book, as before. On 9th September, 1663, an Act was passed hy the
Scottish Parliament rescinding two Acts passed the second session of the Parliament ; the
one for excepting persons from public trust and the other for voting the same by
billets. Thomson's Acts of the Parliament of Scotland, Vol. VIL., p. 471.

¢ Burton's History of Scotland.

7 Tales of a Grandfather. - < LY n

8 See copy of Middleton’s letter to Charles II. resigning his military posts, in the
Appendix.
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Intemperance, during the latter period of his life, ruined Middleton’s
career and occasioned his end. He was patriotic and brave. His soldiers
loved him as a commander and his officers had perfect trust in his general-
ship. Captain Peter Mews, who served under Middleton in Scotland, thus
refers to his General in a letter dated 4th June, 1654 :—* I do not think ever
any man tooke up a game at so great disadvantage, yet he hath hitherto
managed it so well, that I do not doubt the success.”' This was not the
verdict of an ordinary soldier but of one who had a talent for war, not
only as a young man, but in his old age, when he occupied an Episcopal
throne.? Lord Clarendon who was no mean judge of soldiers in general
and commanders in particular says of Middleton:—“He was a man of
great honour and courage and much the best officer the Scots had.” Pepys
records seeing Middleton at Rochester, with other officers, in 1666 :—* By
and by came my Lord Middleton well mounted. He seems a fine soldier
and so everybody says he is.” Baillie, the Scottish chronicler, speaks in
great praise of Middleton soon after the latter’s return to Scotland as
High Commissioner. And Sir George Mackenzie shrewdly observes in his
remarks on Middleton as a statesman, that this nobleman’s ‘‘greatest
weakness was that he preferred such to offices of trust as were unfit to
serve him in them, regarding therein rather their interest than his own.”

Sir Hugh Cholmley,® who was Surveyor-General for the construction
of the famous ‘“Mole” at Tangier when Middleton was Governor, has left
a very appreciative account of the good work done by the latter during his
term of Government :—

“My Lord Middleton found Tangier very uneasy, becanse of the heats and
disputes that were daily happening ; but being great in his quality, and accus-
tomed to command, tempered his power with so equal a hand, that in a little
time there was a public harmony and peace. The markets were not only left
free, but with all encouragement to the traders. The castle which was almost
falling his Excellency repaired so as, at an easy charge, to make it a house
convenient and houourable for the character he had of Governorand General . . .
He repaired York Castle, which was exceedingly ruinous, though in itself the
chief magazine for powder and all stores of war, and caused the quay to be made
at the water-side, for the convenient unlading of vessels and which gives an
intercourse between the City and the Mole.”

! Scotland and the Protectorate, p. 123.

# In 1685, Peter Mews, then Bishop of Winchester, offered his coach horses and traces
for hringing the Royalist guns into position at Sedgemoor ; and what is more, he assisted
the commander of the King's Artillery in looking after the gunners, and directed their fire.
In this service Bishop Mews was wounded in his face., At Farnham Castle is to be seen a
portrait of Bishop Mews in his robes and wearing the badge of the Garter, as Prelate of
the Order, with a Elack patch over one cheek.

3 This Yorkshire baronet visited Edinburgh in August, 1672, and was entertained at
Holyrood by Lauderdale then High Commissioner. In October following, Cholmley
entertained the Duke and Duchess of Lauderdale at Whitby, also the Earls of Athol and
Kinghorn. Memoirs of Sir Hugh Cholmley, pp. 234-5.

4 Ibid., Part IL,, p. 78.



CHAPTER III

THE EARL OF ROTHES
CAPTAIN-GENERAL OF THE FORCES

1664-1667

JonN LESLIE, 7th Earl of Rothes, succeeded Lord Middleton as Captain-
general of the Forces. The Governorship of Edinburgh Castle, which had

een temporarily bestowed on Alexander, Earl of Kellie, when Middleton
left Scotland in 1663, was conferred on the Earl of Lauderdale by Com- .
mission under the Great Seal dated 8th June, 1664. Rothes had been
appointed Lord High Commissioner to the Parliament, 29th May, 1663, and
Captain-General early in 1664. Reference has already been made to Lord
Middleton’s own Troop of Horse, raised in 1661, which took rank after the
King’s Life Guards. Middleton’s Troop was disbanded at Stirling, 8th Oc-
tober, 1663, by the Earls of Linlithgow and Aboyne.! A fortnight later, two
squadrons of the Life Guards and some Foot were sent to quarter “in the
parts most suspected in the West country.”? In 1664 Rothes, in virtue
of his high offices, was allowed to raise a Troop of 80 Horse. The original
‘“ Establishment " for this Troop is preserved among the family papers of
the present Earl of Rothes® and has been printed.* This Troop was
designated *“ Troop of Life Guards under his Majesty’s High Commissioner
the Earl of Rothes.” It is interesting to know that when this same Troop
was disbanded, in 1676, the Royal Company of Archers of Scotland was
instituted.

The Earl of Rothes, who was born in 1630, was not what military men
of the period termed “a man of service,” id est an officer who had seen
much war service. It is true that when Charles II. landed in Scotland,
in 1650, Rothes was appointed in December of that year Colonel of the
Fife Regiment of Horse,® and that he commanded this corps at the battle
of Worcester. But he was too young to have learnt much from this short
period of soldiering, and being taken prisoner at Worcester he was sent to
the Tower. Rothes was a state prisoner till the spring of 1660, when he
was finally released ; but for several successive years he was allowed, on
giving heavy security, to repair to Scotland for several months at a time
to look after his own affairs there.®! Rothes joined Charles II. at Breda,
a few weeks before the Restoration became an accomplished fact, and

! Cal. S.P. Dom.

2 The Newes, 29th October, 1663.

3 The Editor is informed by the Earl of Rothes that he has no other documents relating
to the Troop of Guards.

4 Hist. MSS, Comn., 4th Report, p. 505.

& Balfour’s Annals.

¢ «“ Memoir ” in the Dict. of Nat. Biog.
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accompanied the King to England. The King and Rothes were about the
same age, and the former found the latter a pleasant boon companion.
Notwithstanding the fact that Rothes’s father (the 6th Earl) had been a
hot Covenanter, the 7th Earl was a strong Episcopalian. On the forma-
tion of the new Ministry, in Scotland, Rothes was appointed President of
the Council.! In 1662, he was sent to London “ to press for the immediate
establishment of episcopacy.”? We must now refer back to the Act
passed at Glasgow, 1st October, 1662, *“ by which the clergy who refused to
conform to episcopacy were deprived of their benefices.”” Middleton and
the King were at one in their religious views, and the former, at a meeting
of the Privy Council in London, expressed to His Majesty, then present,
“ a decided opinion that the Scottish nation, with the recovery of royalty,
would accept Episcopacy as its natural accompaniment.” 3 In this conclu-
sion Middleton was egregiously mistaken. It is stated that 850 Presby-
terian ministers abandoned their benefices.# This may seem a small
number for the whole of Scotland ; but as these outed ministers were
followed by a portion of their respective congregations, who naturally
resented the change of pastors, the disaffection was more widespread than
the framers of the Glasgow Act had foreseen. To make matters worse, an
Act was now passed “ compelling people to attend their parish churches.” ®
Fines were imposed, according to rank, on absentees from public worship.®
“The Mile Act” required that “no recusant minister should reside within
twenty miles of his old parish, six miles of Edinburgh or any cathe-
dral town, or three miles of any royal burgh.”? These ill-advised
Acts paved the way for sedition and rebellion, particularly in the
West of Scotland, where the outed ministers and their followers mostly
congregated.

In the summer of 1665 we find Lord Rothes writing to Lauderdale on
the “ disarming the West.” This was ostensibly for getting a supply of
arms, war having broken out hetween England and Holland. But as
Rothes was against calling in arms over the kingdom® it was obvious
enough why the western shires were selected for disarmament. In Novem-
ber of this year, Rothes made a *‘ progress” to the West, the two Troops
of Life Guards and some infantry attending him. He wrote to Lauderdale
on 24th November, and gave him a somewhat sanguine view of the disaf-
fection in the West.?

“ As to the dispositions of the pipill in the countrie I dear not say thay ar
weall inclaynd, bot most acnoulidg 1 thinck thay ar uors then I did imagin, had
thay anie operteunatio, I dear not answier but I judg it mor then probabell thay
wold underteack [it] tho it wear desperatt anuff, bot as thay ar I du ashour you
I have not the least aprehension of anie furder trubell from them then ther ciping
[keeping] conventickiels, and prayfit [private] mitings . . . the treuth is, the
cause of most of this trubell wie [wee] reseffe Ereceive] in this caynd [kind] is
ocasioned by sum outied ministers against whom both counsill {Council] and

! “Memoir” in the Dict. of Nat. Biog.

* Bishop Burnet's History of his own Time.

* Biscoe’s Lives of the Earls of Middleton, p. 114.

* Burton’s Scotland.

* 1bid.

¢ Ibid.

7 Ibid.

® Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 1., p. 222,
. " Bee Lauderdale Papers, edited by Osmund Airy, Vol. I, pp. 233-4. Rothes's orthography
is terrible, and even his printed letters need a translation sometimes,
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commission ! has proved aganst, aud thay have put themselffs in disgays [disguise]
so as when thay preathe thay ar in greay clos? and long pediuicks, and it is
alegied sum of them preathics in masckes, and thes roges stirs up the nimin so as
thay ar wors than deivils, yay I dear say if it wear not for the uimin uie should
have litill trubell with conventickils or such caynd of stuff . . . Nou to prevent
all thes trubell I have dispersed partis throu the cuntrie on[e] of hors I have sent
. « + to quartir in the toun of Macklien [ Mauchline], and in the neu mills which
is nir to it; an other partie hot of ffut [foot] I have sent to ourunien [?] ther
being no ackomodasione for hors in that pleas, and on[e] I am to send to Galaway
bothe of horse and fut which I will meack als considerabell as I can, bot I delay
it till I speak with the bishoup.”

Writing to Lauderdale on 20th March, 1666, on the subject of conven-
ticles in the western shires, Rothes reports:

“T have now so seperated parties up and doune through thos shyers that it will
be hard for them to sture and not be catched, and I have heir sent yon the doubill
of the instructions which I have given to the officers commandeinge the parties.”s

Major Sir James Turner of the Foot Guards, had been appointed by
Rothes to the command of the Troops in the West. There .is no evidence
that Turner exceeded the ‘“instructions” he received from Rothes.* But
certain it is that his plan of quartering his soldiers on obstinate Cove-
nanters, and extorting fines from them for nonconformity, hastened the
outbreak of the insurrection in November, 1666, and nearly cost Turner his
life when taken prisoner at Dumfries by a party of rebels.

In view of the continuation of the Anglo-Dutech War and increasing
disaffection in the West of Scotland, the Government found it necessary to
increase the Standing Forces in the summer of 1666. Six Troops of Horse
and ten Companies of Foot were ordered to be raised. The former were to
compose a Regiment under Lieut.-General Wm. Drummond, and the latter
were to form a Regiment under General Thomas Dalyell. These two dis-
tinguished officers had been recalled from the Russian Service by Charles II.
soon after the outbreak of the war with Holland. Dalyell was now
appointed Lieut.-General of the Scottish Forces,and Drummond was given
the command of Major-General. Rothes as High Commissioner retained
his post of Captain-General till September, 1667, but the sole command of
the forces in the field was given to Dalyell, of whom more hereafter. In
addition to the new levies, three Companies from Lord George Douglas’s
Scots Regiment (which had been recalled from France by Charles II. and

laced on the English Establishment), were transferred to the Scots
oot Guards, and a Company was raised to garrison the Forts in
Shetland ® under command of Colonel Ludovic Leslie.

! « The restoration of the Court of High Commission—that institution abhorred and
dreaded both in England and Scotland—intended to attack the Covenanters.” Burton's
Scotland.

3 ¢ At this period,” writes the biographer of the Grahams, “ the dress of the clergy was
anything but uniform ; they dressed as was convenient, some wearing a green cloak, some

a blue with a broadsword by their side, and some in grey.” The Grahams of Inchbrakie, by
Frances Graham. p. 169.

3 Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 1., p. 235.

4 Sir Robert Moray in a Letter to Lauderdale of 7th November, 1667, thus refers to
the Commission given to Turner :—* 1t is in general termes ; one article being to exact the
20 shillings for being absent from Church, and to take such information as ke thought fit when
ministers did not give it.”"  Ibid., Vol. IL., p. 83.

§ ¢ These forts were built against the Dutch ” (Lauderdale Papers, Vol. L., p. 216 note).
Before the Pentland business Rothes suggested to Lauderdale that some of the conventicle
holders should be sent to Shetland to build forts.
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The six Troops authorised for General Drummond’'s Regiment were
raised in August, 1666. These appear to have been Drummond’s own
Troop, Dalyell’s Troop, Duké Hamilton’s Troop, and the three Troops com-
manded respectively by Charles Maitland of Halton and the Earls of
Airlie and Atholl. Between January and May, 1667, six additional Troops
were raised.! Muster Rolls of eleven Troops, at their disbandment in Sep-
tember, 1667, are given in the body of this work. Only a few of the
officers who composed Dalyell’s Foot Regiment are known, as there are no
lists in existence of the Companies therein with the exception of Sir Wm.
Bannatyne’s? Company, taken when about to be disbanded, in September,
1667.

Passing over for the present the engagement between the Royalist and
Covenanting forces at Rullion Green, we find Rothes (who had returned
post-haste to Scotland from London) leaving Edinburgh for Glasgow and
the West® on 7th December, 1666, to take measures with General Dalyell,
and the Council of War,* for crushing out the smouldering embers of
rebellion. At Glasgow, Rothes received a letter and instructions from
Charles II., and the former, writing to Lauderdale, promises a strict
obedience to his Majesty’s orders.® There is ample evidence from
Rothes’s letters despatched from Glasgow and Ayr, in December, 1666, that
he showed no mercy to the prisoners taken after the late engagement.
Some of the severities attributed to Dalyell in Ayrshire by local historians®
were really instituted by Rothes himself. “ I haipe severatie agaynst them,”
wrote Rothes to Lauderdale from Ayr, “and carfull uathing over them
uill prevent all dangier uhich I am shur I shall go about uith all the
phaculties of my soull.”” ,

From the end of April to the beginning of July, 1667, the Scots Forces
were encamped on the north and south of the Firth of Forth in view of
attempted Dutch descents. General Dalyell had the supreme command of
the Troops till the latter end of June, when a fresh scare, off the East
Coast, so alarmed the citizens of Edinburgh and Leith, that Rothes left his
important duties in the capital, and joined the Troops encamped at
Cockenzie as their commander. Under date of 2nd July, 1667, the
post-master at Edinburgh sent the following news to Lord Arlington’s
secretary :—

‘“Sir Jeremy Smith and the privateers have taken many more prizes. The
trained bands rendez voused at Edinburgh, and the magistrates were especially
careful to see them well armed, and ordered all to he ready on the first heat of
the drum. There were two well appointed companies of 1,000 each called mer-
chant and trades’ youths besides 20 companies. Leith is being fortified by

! Under date of 2nd April, 1667, General Drummond informs Lauderdale that “ The
fyve new levied troops ar to be mustered and receid in pay at Kirkliston upon the 15
instant.” Lauderdale Papers, Vol, 1., p. 280.

* For reasons best known to himself this officer always spelt his name Ballantyne, and is
BI? a:toﬁd in ggntemporary letters. See copy of a letter from this officer to Lauderdale in

., p. 80.

> “ Edenburgh, Dec. 8. Yesterday in the morning the Lord Commissioner according
to his intentions went for Glasgow, the forces having marched two or three days before,
for their better disposal into quarters.” London Gazette, 1666.

! According to Wodrow, Hamilton, Rothes, and Linlithgow were on Dalyell's Council
of War. Vol. I. (edit. 1829), p. 81.

¢ Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 1., p. 256.

¢ Notably Archibald McKay, author of History of Kilmarnock.

? Lauderdale Papers, Vol. L., p. 265.
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planting guns. The Lord General with 2,000 foot and 500 horse lies on the
watch at Cockency, between Dunbar and Leith, and the Earl of Linlithgow with
like number the other side of the Forth.” 1

On the 10th July, 1667, Peace was signed between England and
Holland.

In June, 1667, Rothes was appointed Lord Chancellor for life. This
step was preliminary to his being deprived of all his other offices. The
Scots Forces raised in the summer of 1666, were ordered to be disbanded
in September. The Captain-Generalship was to be abolished. Dalyell
and Drummond were to be relieved of their commands, there being no
further occasion for their services. The Scots Army was to be reduced to
its former strength; while 20,000 Militia were to be raised as soon as
practicable.

On 24th September, 1667, Rothes received the Royal commands to lay
down his Commission.? Before the close of the year he repaired to London
to give an account to his Majesty of affairs in Scotland. If Rothes had
any lurking hope that the King would reinstate him in the civil and
military offices, of which he had been deprived, he was quickly deceived.
Under date of 7th March, 1668, Sir James Turner records the arrival in
Edinburgh of the Earl of Rothes, who said ‘““he had been deprived of his
Commission as Captain-General.” Rothes retained the command of his
Troop of Guards till February, 1676, when it was disbanded by the King’s
order.

On 29th May, 1680, through the instrumentality of the Duke of York,
he was created Duke of Rothes. Dying without male issue in July, 1686,
his dukedom became extinct, but the earldom of Rothes descended to his
elder daughter Lady Margaret Leslie, who became Countess of Rothes in
her own right.

The Duke of Rothesnever had the advantages of education when young.
His talents were of no mean order, and had they been properly cultivated
he might have left the name of a great statesman behind him. Like
Middleton he was too fond of his bottle, but, if all accounts be true, he had
‘“an extraordinary power of withstanding the effects of liquor.” Sir
Robert Moray has left it on record that ‘“ Earl Rothes told me hee lyked
sogeris above all other wayes of living. That he would be well pleased to
have none other employment but the command of a Troop of Horse or so
and that he had rather have £500 a year as a soger than £2,000 any other
way.”® Dying in office, as Lord Chancellor, Rothes was buried with great

omp.
P “pHis Grace died in July at his lodgings at Holyrood and the body
followed by a train of coaches, was taken up to St. Giles’ Church; on the
23rd August, the great ceremonial took place when the remains were
removed to the Abbey Church at Holyrood, the procession including the
Nobility, Officers of State, Lords of Session, Gentlemen and Barons, the
Clergy, Provost and Magistrates and Council of Edinburgh, and others too
numerous to specify ; the Guards, the Earl of Mar’s Regiment, and other
Troops, and the whole heraldic establishment of Scotland, six Heralds, six

! Cal. S.P. Dom. 1667.

3 Rothes to Lauderdale, 24th September, 1667. Has received the order to lay down his
commission . . . Requests Lauderdale to express to the King his * passionat desayr to ciss
his hands.” Ibid., Vol. IL, p. 71.

? Lauderdale Papers, Vol. II., p. 19.
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CHAPTER IV

LIEUT-GENERAL THOMAS DALYELL COMMANDING THE
FORCES EMPLOYED AGAINST THE COVENANTERS

1666-1667

To any student of Scottish history it must be patent that the Covenanters’
Rising in November, 1666, had nothing in it of a national character.
Compare it with the popular movement in 1638 when the great majority
of Scotland’s inhabitants signed the National Covenant, which was the
precursor of The Solemn League and Covenant of 1643. In 1639, an Army
of 26,000 men, under General Alexander Leslie, took the field to uphold
the form of religion which Scotland had adopted in opposition to the
English liturgy that had been violently thrust upon the Scots by Charles I.
This Army, which marched to Dunse Law, near Berwick, has its parallel in
English history viz. “ The Pilgrimage of Grace” consisting of an Army of
40,000 determined men (among whom were many Scots veterans)! who
had risen, in the North of England, in defence of the old Faith against
which Henry VIIL and the Reformers had dealt sledge-hammer blows.
The Army of 1537 and that of 1639, carried banners with mottoes uphold-
ing their respective religious tenets which were of an entirely different
character. But each Army was alike in being induced to disperse by the
futile promises of Henry VIIIL. and Charles I. Here the simile ceases, for
whereas the Pilgrimage of Grace came to a sudden end, the Covenanting
Army reassembled, in 1640, stronger than ever. What this Army accom-
plished in England is too well known to recapitulate.

From 1643 to 1651 Scotland was under the curse of ecclesiastical rule.
In order to escape the thraldom of Episcopacy the Scottish nation, almost
unanimously, declared for the most extreme form of Presbyterianism.
The Church fabric which had been erected with infinite pains by James V1.
and Charles I. came toppling down. Bishops were sent packing. Let us
see what the Scots gained when they achieved the longed-for change of
Church government. *Every parish had a tyrant,” wrote Drummond of
Balhaldy, “who made the greatest Lord in his district stoop to his
authority. The kirk was the place where he kept his court; the pulpit
his throne or tribunal from whence he issued out his terrible decrees ; and
twelve or fourteen . . . enthusiasts, under the title of Elders, composed
his council. If any, of what quality so ever, had the assurance to disobey
his orders, the dreadful sentence of cxcommunication was immediately
thundered out against him, his goods and chattels confiscated and seized,
and he himself being looked upon as actually in the possession of the
devil, and irretrievably doomed to eternal perdition, all that convened
with him were in no better esteem.” 2

1See chapter on “The Pilgrimage of Grace and its Sequel” in The Noble House of
Howard, Vol. 1., pp. 195-226.
? Memoirs of Sir Ewen Cameron of Lochiel, printed for the Abbotsford Club, 1842,
pp. 87-88.
B
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Begides assuming the Church power of Pre-Reformation days, the
Covenanting ministers forestalled the doctrine of infalliblity and conducted
themselves as men who could do no wrong. Royalists who were termed
“ Malignants ” were not only excommunicated when in Scotland, but
forbidden to return, if out of the Kingdom, by the all-powerful General
Assembly. We have already seen how Middleton was excommunicated
and obliged to do penance in sackcloth. And there were officers of high
rank and birth in the Scots Army of 1666 who had been banned and
outlawed during the Covenanting reign of terror. Viscount Kingston,
who was present at Rullion Green, had been excommunicated, in 1643, by
Mr. Robert Balcanqual (who was deposed from the ministry, in 1650, for
being ‘“ accessorie to the divisive supplies”’) in Tranent Church, along with
his wife, his mother-in-law, and his sister-in-law, because they would not
“subscryve the Scots rebellious covenant.”! On 18th May, 1650, an
Act “excluding divers persons from entering within the Kingdome from
beyond seas, with his Majestie, until they give satisfactione to the Churche
and Stait.” (sic), was passed by the Scottish Parliament.? The names of
“Thomas Dalzell of Binns” and “ Sir George Monro” stand out in bold
relief in the aforesaid Exclusion Act.’

We must now trace the military career of General Thomas Dalyell who,
at the age of sixty-seven, had been selected by his Sovereign to command
the Scots Forces in the summer of 1666.

This distinguished officer was son of Thomas Dalyell of Binns, Linlith-
gowshire. He served as a Captain in the Earl of Morton’s Regiment at
the siege of Rochellein 1628.4# For the next eleven years we have no trace
of him. In 1640, Dalyell was serving under Major Robert Monro at
Aberdeen. The Irish Rebellion broke out in 1641 and Dalyell accom-
panied Monro to Ireland, in 1642, where the former was subsequently given
the command of 2,500 Scots with the rank of Colonel.® The chief strong-
hold of the Scottish contingent in Ulster was at Carrickfergus and this
town was Dalyell’s head-quarters from 1643-1648. But it is highly
probable that he served under General Robert Monro in the field against
Owen Roe O’Neil and at the battle of Benburb, 5th June, 1646, when the
Scots were defeated by the Irish forces.

A letter from Dalyell to Sir John Stirling of Keir is still extant® and
is interesting as it records the state of the Scots Army and the punish-
ment inflicted on some home-sick soldiers, at Carrickfergus, who attempted
an escape to Scotland in an open boat :—

“ Carrickfergus,
‘“ February, 1643.

“ HONORABLE SIR.

“ YouEgs of the 23 of Januar I reseuit confessing that I am not able to requyt
the smalist of youer inumerable fanoris, not forgeting youer fauorable sensor (sic)
you haue on the resons aledgit be me, for not cuming to Scotland this winter,

! Tranent and its Surroundings, p. 65.

?Balfour’s Annals, Vol. IV, p. 14.

® Ibid., p. 42.

*Cal. S.P. Dom., 1628.

*The copy of the King’s Warrant dated “8 Feb. 1642” authorising the Scots Privy
Council to appoint a Scottish officer Colonel over 2,500 men for the Irish Service, is among
the Dalyell Papers ( Hist. MSS. Comn., Report IX., Pt. IL, p. 236) but it does not appear
when Dalyell received the appointment.

¢ MSS. of Sir John Maxwell Stirling Maxwell. See Hist. M8S. Comn., Report X .,
Appx. L, p. 78.
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aledging I can ouer cum deficoltayis vhair I heve a mynd [to] try; omlay I
maist ingeniusle confes that if their be not a griter kair had of this arme in tymis
to cum nor hes bein hitherto, nather tempist nor ane thing elis vil lock us ane
loinger in ignorens and nessessate. For this laist night six of the Lord Genoralis
soiers did steil a boit from the pier, and resoluit to expois thamseluis to the
mersay of the sies (who ver after aprehenditin regaird non of them could roue)
who in this poister intendit for Scotland and ar nou sum of them to be hengit.
“Thair is laitle sum prouision of meil cum in, so that the General Major
intends shortlay to the fieldis, and as the euent promis I sal aquent you ; but be
all apirans ve are not able to staye out aboue eight dayeis, in regaird ve vaiut
horsis for carieng our prouision. So loith to truble you, I rest, youer moist

Oblldglﬁ Seruant «T, DALYELL.”

In March, 1643, four *“ Kirk ministers” arrived from Scotland ‘to press
and tender the Covenant.” ‘On the 4th April,” writes the historian of
Carrickfergus, “these ministers held a meeting at Carrickfergus, in the
church of St. Nicholas, at which meeting the Covenant was taken by
General Munroe, and all his officers, save Major Dalzael, and on the two
following days by his soldiers and many of the inhabitants. These minis-
ters preached up the Covenant to be as necessary to salvation as the
sacrament, hence it was taken with much zeal as if it was the only means
of preserving both their souls and bodies. On these events being known
at Dublin, on the 15th, the Government issued an order against taking the
Covenant, a copy of which was sent to the mayor of this town, and to all
colonels of the army, ordering them no longer to delay publishing their
proclamation to that effect.”! The adoption by the Scottish forces in
Ulster of the Covenant caused great disquiet among the Supreme Council
at Dublin who wrote to the Marquis of Ormonde to this effect : —

“....Wee are informed very many within your quarters . .. have of
late, by the incitcment of fower ministers sent out of Scotland, taken an oath or
covenant full of treason and sedicion which is destructive to his Majestie’s royall
authority and the freedome and libertie of his Majestie’s good subjects in this

Kingdome.” 2

The next notice we have of Dalyell is contained in a letter signed by
him and other leading Scots officers addressed : “To his Excellency the
Lord Marquess of Ormonde,” and dated * Carrickfergus 10 November,
1646.”8 ‘. . . For we consider ourselves to be so weakened by our send-
ing of men into Scotland, and our loss received in the fields, as without
the conjunction of the British in those parts we cannot be assured of our
maintenance here. . .and therefore we think it necessary that your
excellencie would (in case they, the Scots, were sent) give them Drogheda
for their garrison to be commanded by our officer who shall receive your
excellencie’s orders only.

“Signed Geo. Monroe, Jo. Hamilton, G. Gordon, William Cunningham,
Geo. Barelay, John Maxwell, T. Dalyell, Robert Kenedie, Da. Monroe,
Da. Fergussone, Samuel Hamilton, —MecClellome.”” *
182’311:'stogy an2d Antiquities of Carrickfergus, by Samuel McSkimin, 2nd Edition, Belfast,

. 51-52.
3 ,Hpigtory c;f)f Confederation and War in Ireland, 1641-1649, Vol. IIL., p. 179
3 Ibid., Vol. VL., p. 34.
* A certain Captain Sir Robert Maclellan commanded a Troop of Horse, in Ulster, in
1646. He may have been illegitimate son of Sir Robert Maclellan created Baron Kirkcud-
bright in 1633. This nobleman’s ancestor is said to have presented Mons Meg to James II.,

to help him to batter down Thrieve Castle in 1545 ; and the family used as a crest a mortar
piece with the motto *superba frango.”

B2
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Irish jealousy in high quarters put an effectual stop to the plan
promulgated by the Secots officers that their Troops should garrison
Drogheda, which was considercd the strongest place in Ireland. Knowing
the story of the “Drogheda Massacre,” when the town was taken by
Cromwell in September, 1649, it was fortunate that the request made by
the Scots officers was refused. There is such a thing as the curse of a
granted prayer.

What the Scots officers had foreseen, in 1646, came to pass in less than
two years. Carrickfergus was taken by Colonel George Monk at day-
break on 13th September, 1648; but Dalyell was not there having
accompanied Colonel George Monro, in the summer of 1648, to Scotland
to take part in Duke Hamilton’s Expedition into England. The next
summer, Dalyell served under George Monro (who was knighted by
Ormonde in 1649) and Viscount Montgomery of the Ards at the capture
of Carrickfergus 4th July, 1649. On the 29th June, prior to the surrender,
we find the Presbytery of Carrickfergus thus addressing Lord Montgom-
ery : 1—* We must be faithful in warning your Lordship, though the Lord
knows what heaviness it is to us that the Lord will reward you if you
repent not for such a betraying of the faithful servants of God, who
could have plucked out their eyes for you, and the Lord will visit your
family with sudden ruin and irreparable desolation for that you have
been so great an instrument to destroy the work of God here.” 2

Dalyell was appointed Governor of Carrickfergus and, on the 1st August
following, Sir George Monro, Governor of Coleraine and Major-General of
the Scots forces in Ulster, signed the following Commission :—

“Colerain. 1lst August 1649. Thease are giving full power and authority
unto Collonell Thomas Dayell to lett and dispose of the whole customes henceforth
growing due out of the severall ports and creekes of Carrickfergus, &e.,. . . .
Hee the said Collonell Thomas Dayell makeing a perfect accompt unto me of the
whole proffitt of the said Customes whensoever he shal bee thereunto by me
called or required.”$ ¢ Sir George Muuro.”

Cromwell’s victories in Ireland encouraged the Parliamentarians in
that country to besiege Carrickfergus the end of October, 1649. Dalyell
made a stubborn defence with his small garrison. Hesent word to Ormonde
that he could only hold out for six weeks if not relieved. We find the
Irish commander Owen O’Neil (who was a zealous Royalist) writing to Lord
Ormonde on 26th October, 1649, as follows:— “ My Lord, the gaineing of
the Castle of Carrickfergus would highly conduce to the advantage of the
Enemy, and redownde to the irrecoverable losse of the Provinee, therefore
I represent to y* Ex®* iuditious consideration that a place of such conse-
quence ought to be relieved, if it possibly may be done.”* The exigencies of
circumstances prevented Carrickfergus being relieved. On 4th November,
Cromwell wrote to Speaker Lenthal :—

“From Sir C. Coote I had a letter that he in conjunction with Colonel

! Hugh Montgomery, 3rd Viscount, was born about 1623. His mother was Lady Jean
Alexander, eldest daughter of William Earl of Stirling (which lady married secondly General
Robert Monro). As a child, Lord Montgomery had, as a result of a fall, an abscess in his
left side and when this disappeared it left a large cavity through which the working of the
heart was plainly visible. CharlesI. heard of this phenomenon and sent for Montgomery
to Oxford that he might see it. Lord Montgomery was a distinguished Royalist leader in
Ireland, and at the Restoration was created Earl of Mount Alexander.

3 Complaints of the Beauti-feu, scorcked in his own kindlings.

® Hist. MSS. Comn., Report IX,, Pt. IL., p. 236.

* Contemporary History of Affairs in Ireland, Vol. IL., p. 310.
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Venables hath besieged Carrickfergus which, if through the mercy of God
it be taken, I know nothing considerable in the north of Ireland but
Charlemont that isnot in your hand.” On the 13th December, Dalyell was
compelled to deliver up the town and castle. The honours of war were
granted to the garrison and their brave commander.?

When the Royalist Troops in Ireland had lost all the strongholds they
held in that country, Dalyell obtained a pass from Sir Charles Coote to
leave Ireland (15th August, 1650). Hehad, as already stated, been forbid-
den to return to Scotland; but he did so and was taken prisoner in
Galloway. He effected his escape.® The defeat of the Covenanting Army
at Dunbar, 3rd September, 1650, was a foregone conclusion. Four thousand
soldiers had been withdrawn from the Scots Army because they had been
“ Malignants.” We are told by a contemporary writer ¢ that the men who
were rejected “ were all experienced soldiers, the best in the army.” Not
satisfied with this ‘ purification” the Covenanters deemed it expedient
that their young King should not accompany their godly host. This was
not from any regard of his sacred person but due entirely to his unregener-
ated condition, coupled with “the sins of his father and the idolatry of his
mother.” Thus it came to pass that the King wasnot present at Dunbar ;
and three of the most experienced Royalist officers, viz. Middleton, Monro,
and Dalyell were debarred from offering their services. Many of the
subordinate officers in General David Leslie’s polyglot Army were (accord-
ing to an English Royalist onlooker of Dunbar Drove) ‘“ministers’ sons,
clerks, and such other sanctified creatures who hardly ever saw or heard
of any sword but that of the Spirit.”® These were not the men to try
conclusions with Cromwell’s Army fresh from the conquest of Ireland.
Leslie took up a splendid strategic position on Doon Hill. Had he kept his
troops there all might have gone well; but  yielding to the impetuous
demands of the Committee of Church and State by whom he was accom-
panied, and who controlled all his movements, he rashly descended from
his commanding position.”® It is said that when Cromwell saw the Scots
Troops coming down into the plain, he exclaimed :—*“ Now let God arise
and let His enemies be scattered.” He then gave orders for his Army to
advance and a second Flodden was the result.

The vast number of prisoners taken at Dunbar, in addition to those
killed in action and the subsequent surrender of Edinburgh Castle, necessi-
‘tated a change of tactics by the heads of the Scottish Government. A new
Army was formed under David Leslie in which the young King, who had
signed the Covenants and been crowned at Scone, 1st January, 1651, was the
centre of attraction. Common soldiers, who had been hitherto debarred
by “malignancy ” from serving, were allowed to join the Royal Army.
And at the eleventh hour Middleton was appointed Major-General of the
Horse ; while Dalyell—the “stiff Irish Engager” as a Scottish nobleman

! Contemporary History of Affairs in Ireland, Vol. IL, pp. 319-320.

2The end of the *“ Articles of Surrender” runs thus :—*“It shall be lawful for the
said governor, with the rest of his officers and soldiers to march out of the town with flying
colours, drums heating, and all the marks of honour whatsoever, and that no soldier of what
nation soever, though he had been formerly in the enemy’s service shall be questioned by
any cause or pretext whatsoever.” History of Carrickfergus.

3 See Introduction.

4 Sir Edward Walker. See his Journal of Affairs in Scotland, 1650.

' b Ibid.

S Extracted from the “Memoir of General David Leslie (Viscount Newark)” in Zhe

Scottish Nation.
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termed him—! was chosen one of the two Major-Generalsof Foot, 6th May,
1651.2

Charles II’s presence with the Scots Army brought many desirable
recruits to swell David Leslie’s forces. This leader showed good general-
ship in the position he took up on the height between Stirling and Falkirk.
There the Scots fortified themselves. Cromwell failed to draw Leslie from
his coign of vantage. After watching the enemy for some months,
Cromwell crossed the Forth and marched to Perth. This was not accom-
plished without an engagement with a Scots force at Inverkeithing in
which the latter were beaten. When Cromwell and his Army had occupied
the Fair City, Leslie and the King determined to march into England
where they expected to be joined by many Royalists. In this hope they
were disappointed ; but having a good start the Scots reached Worcester
before Cromwell, who by dint of forced marches, came up with the Royalist
Forces. A battle ensued in which, after a brave resistance, the Scots, who
were greatly outnumbered, were defeated. Many of the Scots officers
were killed; while others who escaped were subsequently captured.
Among the latter were Middleton, Rothes, Leslie, Drummond, Dalyell, and
Wemyss the General of the Artillery. The King wandered for six weeks,
a proscribed outlaw, with a reward of £1,000 offered for his capture?
before he effected his escape to France. Dalyell was sent, with other
notable prisoners, to the Tower and his estate forfeited. It is on record
that “an allowance of five shillings per week was given to this officer
for his maintenance.”® Dalyell escaped from the Tower in May, 1652.
The Council of State issued a warrant for his apprehension, on 1st June
with a description of his person.® Dalyell succeeded in reaching the
Continent and joined Charles II. He accompanied Middleton to Scotland,
in January, 1654, and was Lieut-General of the Infantry during the
Highland eampaign. Dalyell captured the castle of Skelbo and did other
good service for the Royal Cause which the exiled monarch acknowledged
in the following letter :—

“TOM DALYELL.

“ Though I need say nothing to you by this honest bearer, Captain Mewes,
who can well tell you all I would have said, yett I am willing to give it you
under my own hand, that I am very much pleased to hear how constant you are
in your affection to me, aud iu your endeavours to advance my service. We have
all a barde work to do: yet I doubt not God will earry us through it: and you
can never doubt [fear] that I will forgett the good part you have acted; which trust
me, shall be rewarded whenever it shall be in the power of your affectionat frind.

“Colen, 30th December, 1654.” 6 “CHARLES R.”

! Archibald Earl of Angus to the Laird of Guthrie, 10th May, 1651. The Douglas Book,
Vol. IV., p. 260.
? Balfour’s Annals, Vol. IV., p. 297. Dalyell's Commission was signed by Charles IL. :

“CHARLES R.

“ Trustie and wellbeloved, wee greete you well ; you have beane represented a person
of greate abilities and very worthy of charge in our Armies: Therefor wee have apoynted
youe to be one of the Generall Maiors of Our Army for the Foote . . . Given att Our
Court att Sterline the tenth of May, 1651, and in the third yeare of Our raigne.”

“To Our Trustie and wellbeloved Colonell Daliell of Binns.” Hist. MSS. Comn.,
Report IX., Pt. IL., p. 234.

One of the original “ Proclamations ” is in the Editor’s possession.

4Cal. 8. P. Dom., 1651.

8. P. Dom. Interregnum, 1. 67, fol. 184. Fac-simile of the * Order” in the “ Council of
Btate’s Entry Book ” is given as an illustration,

S Hist. MSS. Comn., Report IX., Pt. I1., p. 234.
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In May, 1655, Generals Dalyell and Drummond obtained passes from
General Monk “ to go beyond seas,” upon their giving security of « £2,000
a piece for their peaceable living.” Dalyell rejoined King Charles at
Cologne. At his own request, the exiled monarch gave Dalyell letters of
recornmendation to the King of Poland and Prince Radziwill. The Czar of
Muscovy appointed Dalyell a Lieut-General in the Russian Army and in
that capacity he fought against the Poles and Turks with distinction®
In 1665, when Charles II. re-called Dalyell to England this Scots officer
had the full rank of General in Russia.

The sudden rising of the Covenanters in the West completely took the
Scots Privy Council by surprise. They wrote on 27th November, 1666, to
the Earl of Rothes, who was then in London, informing him of the marck
of the rebels to Lanark, and from thence to Colinton, “and some parties
advanced to the eist of Pentland hills, so that in effect this place [Edin-
burgh] is surrounded. They report their number about 3,000 Horse, and
their chief commanders to be Collonell Gray, Lieut. Collonell Wallace,
Major Lermouth, and some others. . . . Wee are resolved to stay here and
mantane the King’s honor and authority with the forces of the toune and
such gentlemen of the neighbour shyres as shall resort to us.”?

Colonel Urry’s and Major Thomson’s Companies of Guards had becn
left in Edinburgh by Dalyell; and to these Regulars were added 500
Volunteer Horse and a like number raised by the College of Justice.® In
the meantime, Dalyell had marched from Glasgow on 23rd November in
search of the Rebels, “ sending out Lieut-General Drummond with a party
of 200 Horse, and 100 Dragoons, to discover their number and posture
but met with no opposition.” * It was not till 28th November that the
Royalist forces came up with the Rebels who had succeeded in getting
within five miles of Edinburgh. Owing to privations, and the disappoint-
ment caused by the non-appearance of expected sympathisers from the
East Coast to swell their numbers, many Covenanters had deserted. It is
computed that when Dalyell engaged the Rebels at Rullion Green their
force did not much exceed 1,000 men.5 The official account of the action
that followed gives the disposition of the Royalist Troops :—

® 5 6.0 0000 On the right wing of our Body were placed the Kings two
Troops of Guards, and the Major Generals Troops, making four Squadrons. On
the left, the Lieutenant-General, Duke Hamilton, the Earls of Athol and Ayrly,
each in the head of their Troops, in which serve divers other Noblemen, of prin-
cipal Note as Volunteers. Who all behaved themselves with much gallantry in

the action more eminently the Licut-General Deyel and Major-General
Drummond.” ¢

The best account of the action itself is contained in General Drummond’s
despatch to the Earl of Rothes dated  Pentland 29 November, 1666.”
« May it please yor Gr*
“1 beg you be not offended for my soe long silence, for I had noe resolucon to
write that w*® would only have vexed you . . . I shall begin at our March and

10nleaving the Russian Service the Czar gave Dalyell a certificate to the effect that
“he was a man of honour and great experience in military affairs.”—Hist. MSS. Comn.,
Report 1X., Pt. I1., p. 236.

3 Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 1., p. 246.

3 London Gazette, 24th November, 1666.

4 Ibid. .

s Drummond's letter gives 1,500 ; while Burton, in his History of Scotland, saysonly 900

¢ London Gazette.
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give you a short acc' of all passages untill this day ; Upon Sunday the 18th inst.
Our march began from all our severall Quarters and upon tuesday the 20th wee
met att Glasco, wee spent Wednesday in preparacons for what wee wanted. . .
and in consultacons with my Lord Glasco and y° other Neblemen who com-
anded ; Thursday the 22th the horse watched kilmarnock and the foot upon
friday at much adoe, there we understood that the rebells were convened at
Machlin with all their force and a resolucon to fight us, they had been in Air and
taken about 200 Armes of all sorts out of the tolbooth . . . all the Gentlemens
houses they searched for horses and armes And (I beleive) found diverse ready to
their hands, w® must bee judged as taken by force; Saturday the 24th wee came
to Machlin, the rebclls were gone to Comnock and from thence to the Moor Kirk
of Kyll and to Douglas, wee judged and not amisse that they designed for Clts-
dale [Clydesdale] Hanylton and Glasco and there upon Sunday took aneerer
way to stop that course and marched through Evendal to Streven [Strathaven]
where wee had notice they were at Lethmahago but 4 miles from us ; that Sunday
they knowing of us as they used to have quick Intelligence of us of our motions
in a Countrey of their owne friends disaffected to us, they passed the river Glyde
to Lenricke [Lanark] their foote in 2 boates w* imediately they sunk and forded
w' their horses not without danger the river being great. Upon Monday the
26th Qur fore partie had a view of y™ on the rivers side over ag™ us, as if
they meant to forbid our passage, but when our body of horse began to appeare,
they marched off and kept a lusty rear guard with more order then could
have been hoped from then ; wee past the ford instantly deep and strong, w® made
us very doubtfull whither it was wadable by the foot and followed them 4 miles
ou their reare, but in regard of the distance from our foot and approach of y°
night, could not with any reason engage with them ; wee got over the foot that
night with much danger but not one lost ; tuesday wee followed the rebells track
for 8 miles through a black mosse and marking their way to make for huhghgour
(?) ; wee were affrayed of Edenburgh and bent our course to tarfichens [Torp-
hicken] hather, the rebells had marched on Monday from Lenrick to Bath kt. Huth-
goar [Bathgate . . . ? ] and were at Collintone 2 myles from Edenburgh, on
Tuesday the 27th by midday to our admiration whatever their designe or invitacon
was for soe desperate a march they found their plot p’vented ; wee judged rightly
they would gett of to Bigger and betook us to fall in their way going over the
Pentland Hills at Currie, our fore party of 100 horse disecovered them on their
march towards Linton the bigger way near a place called Glencors Kirk and with
great boldnes sett upon them, and endured the danger to face all their strength,
horse and foot, untill our cavalry far behind came up and thatspent near 2 houres,
soe had God blinded these fooles to neglect their advantage, our party being in a
ground whence they could not come of [f]; some sharpe charges past in this
time, w" the rebells gave and received with desperate resolucon to our prejudice,
at last our horse comes on and gave breathing to that weary party, but our foot
was yet 4 miles from us, wee found it convenient to draw from that ground very
advantageous for their foot w they after much consideracon began to employ
ag™ us but wee prevented them and got of [f] a little to a better ground where
they made a fashion to annoy us without any gaine ; so soon as our foot came up
wee put ourselves in order and embattled in a faire plaine upon their noses ; they
upon the hill above did the like but gave us noe disturbance tho well they might ;
by this time the sun was sett, wee must make haste and advanced a partie of horse
and foot from our right band to assault their left wing of horse w* instantly came
doune and met them, and there the work began, wee fought obstinately a long
time w* swords until they mixed like chessmen in a bag ; wee advanced our right
wing and they their left to give reliefe ; there againe it was disputed toughly ;
then came a strong party of foot from their body and forced our right wing back
to the foot in some disorder, but this was instantly rectified, their right wing of
horse came from their ground foolishly and crosses their foot, apprehending their
left wing to be in distresse, wherein they were mistaken and soe gave our left
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wing their slack, w opportunity wee had hold ou and there went their cavalrie
in disorder ; our whole body then advanced and beat in their horse upon their
foot ; then confusion aud flight followed ; wee pursued in the dark, killed all the
foot and but for the night and steep hills had wholly destroyed them. Some
prisoners there are fitt for examples, I know not how many, but I conjecture not
above 140, for there was sound payment. Our losse I cannot tell, but it is
greater then many of their skins were worth. Their number was about 15 or
1600 and would without doubt have encreased if God had not confounded their
Imaginacons and rebellious dispositions. Upon Monday the rebells swore the
Covenant at Lenrick, and all to die in defence of it ; most of these who led their
troupes were cashiered preachers.
“ Now I trust yo* G is at ease
13 I am yol‘ GCQS
% Most ohedient & most humble Serv*
“W. DRUMOND !

The King’s letter to General Dalyell when news reached Court of the
defeat of the Rebels, is still in existence and runs as follows :—

“ LIEUTENANT-GENERAL DALYELL, having received a full account of the
happy success you have had against the rebells in Scotland, and the great care
and diligence you have used in the suppressing of it, I could not but give my
hearty thanks for it myself, by letting you know how well I am satisfied with
your conduct and zeal in my service, assuring you that you shall always find
by the effects the sence (sic) I have of those who serve me so well as you have
done, and that you shall have reason to helieve that I am your very loveing friend

“ CHARLES R.?
% Whitehall, 5 December [16]66.”

On 3rd January, 1667, Dalyell and Drummond were sworn in Members
of the Privy Council.®

Turning our attention now to the Covenanters captured after their
defeat at Rullion Green, we cannot fail to remark on the absence of men
of note and position among the prisoners. The military leader of the
insurrection, Lieut-Colonel James Wallace,* had a name to conjure with
and was a professedly good officer. So also was Captain John Paton?® of

1This letter (from the * Carte MSS ” in the Bodleian Library) is printed in the Scottisk
History Review for July, 1906, pp. 451-2, and is thus endorsed :—

“Letter from Major Genrll Drummond to the E. of Rothes of the defeat
of the Rebells in Scotland 29 Nov.[16] 66. Rec. 4 Dec. 1666 in a letter from the Lord
Arlington.”

"‘Lg;atter addressed : * Our Right Trusty and Wellbeloved Generall T. Dalyell, Our
Levtenant Generall of all Our Forces in Scotland.” Hist. MSS. Comn., Report IX., Part II.,

32359
J “Edenburgh Jan. 5.
30n Thurday last, by virtne of his Majesties Orders, Lieutenant General Deyel was
admitted and sworn one of his Majesties most Honourable Privy Council, and accordingly
took his place: the same Honour, being likewise to be conferred on Major General
Drumond at his arrival here.” London Gazetle.
4Served in the Civil Wars and with Lord Lorne’s Foot Guards in 1650. Escaped to
Ireland after Rullion Green and from thence made his way to Holland. “ He was an elder
in the Scotch Church at Rotterdam some years before his death in 1678.” A Scots Ear,
. 149.
5 & Fought under Gustavus Adolphus. Was with Cromwell at Marston Moor and with
Charles II. at Worcester. Served at Bothwell Brig with the Covenanters. Executed
9tb May, 1684, at the Grassmarket, Edinburgh, when about 80 years of age. ‘ The Cove-
nanters said the Bishop of Edinburgh deliberately held back a reprieve obtained from the
King by Dalyell.” Paton’s Bible is preserved at Lochgoin.

[ 3



26 THE SCOTS ARMY, 1661-1688

Meadowhead who had fought under Dalyell at Worcester. But there
were very few others of the same calibree. We are told that
outed ministers served as captains and lieutenants under Wallace ;
but it is very certain that the bulk of the rebels consisted of men who
were not entirely new to soldiering. We have it on Sir James Turner’s
authority that when he was a prisoner in the Covenanters’ hands, at their
first outbreak, he was astonished at the martial appearance of the Cov-
enanters, who went through their drill like old and disciplined soldiers. And
Turner’s opinion of their fighting qualities was amply borne out by the
stubborn resistance of the rebels, both Horse and Foot, at Rullion Green.
It leaked out, after the rising had been crushed, that the insurrection was
not to have taken place till the following March, or April, and then to
liave been on a much larger scale. Turner’s harsh measures with the
Western Covenanters, coupled with a natural anxiety to capture him and
take over the large sum of money which he had collected in fines, had
precipitated matters.! But thereis no evidence to show that any influential
Scotsmen would have joined the insurrection had it not been forestalled.

Bishop Burnet, in his Memoirs of my own Time, has made charges of
cruelty against Dalyell in the latter’s treatment of his prisoners. Burnet’s
charges were made on hearsay evidence. In 1666, Burnet was the Episcopal
minister of Saltoun and it may be said of him that “ he ran with the hare
and hunted with the hounds” as suited his own interest. He qualifies his
remarks on Dalyell’s cruelty to prisoners by recording how this old cam-
paigner forced people, in the Western shires, to go to church. Dalyell
did not fine them for non-attendance, as Turner had done, but he quartered
soldiers on them till they resumed their church duties, in order to get quit
of their unwelcome boarders. ‘“The clergy,” says Burnet, “were so
delighted that they used to speak of that time as the poets do of the
golden age.”

Dalyell made no secret of his hatred to the Covenanters and their
cause. He styles them “a damnet crue,” and suggests “extirpation” as
the only way to stamp out the rebellion? By “extirpation” Dalyell
meant transportation to Barbados, Virginia, and New LEngland. Writing
to Lauderdale from Kilmarnock on 27th December, 1666, Dalyell says :—“ It
simis this laist {rebellion] if it had not been mistymd had bein muth moir
terible, and no piple heve with moir egernes soight after marterdom then
thir Roigis [rogues] to karay thair desyn or deye; mane of the vimin
upbraden thair husbends and children for not deyen on the pleis. "8

In another letter from Kilmarnock dated 15th January, 1667, Dalyell
says there will be no peace in Scotland till all the “ non conform Minesters
be baniched and the puretan laidays sent to beir them cumpane.”*

In the 17th century the Scottish peasantry were very ignorant, super-
stitious and credulous. They were ready to believe any cock-and-bull
story spread by local agitators to serve their own end. It was commonly
reported among the Covenanters that Dalyell had roasted prisoners when
serving with the Russian Army. He had been openly called «“ a Muscovy
beast who roasted men” by a prisoner who was being examined by the

!Robert Mein, the Edinburgh post-master, writing to Joseph Williamson (Lord Arling-
ton’s secretary) on 20th November, 1666, says “ the money which the rebels took from Sir
J.Turner they gave to their troops.”

? Dalyell to Rothes, 29th December, 1666. Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 11., Appx. p. Ixxv.

# Ibid., Vol. 1., p. 266. :

*See fac-simile illustration. The original letter is in the Editor’s possession.
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Privy Council. A sample of Scottish credulity regarding Dalyell’s
supposed cruelty may be quoted here:—‘The building adjoining Binns
called ¢ The Oven ’ is said to have been used by General Dalyell to roast
Covenanters there; but the oven was really required for baking bread for
the Regiment of Scots Greys raised by him.”?

Many of the cruelties attributed to Montrose were libels spread by the
Covenanters when the Great Marquis turned Royalist. And when Crom-
well invaded Scotland it was reported that his savage soldiery would cut
off the breasts of all married women. To the peasantry Cromwell was an
avenging power, second only to God Almighty, and the records of a Kirk
Session, in Fifeshire, contain a proof of this assertion in an awful curse
by a Scotswoman against her own parish :—“ God or fire,” said the blas-
phemer, . . . . “and ridd lows come upon the haill town as it did before,
and God and Cromwell come and tak’ all the town upon his back, if she
were out of it,”” for which she had to do severe penance.

Sir John Lauder (Lord Fountainhall) tells usin his interesting Historical
Notices that Generals Dalyell and Drummond are popularly supposed to
have introduced torture by the thumbscrew ““ having seen it in Moscovia.” 2
Lauder’s statement is an anachronism which other writers have repeated.
But the learned editor of a nineteenth century edition of Wodrow’s
magnum opus proves that the thumbscrew was known in Britain long
before Dalyell’s time :—‘ The Council are wrong in calling the ‘thumb-
kins’ ‘a new invention;’ they are the same as the thumbscrews which
were found on board the Spanish Armada, specimens of which are shown
in the Tower of London.” ®

The old saying that “ it is easy to find a stick when you want to beat
a dog” is exemplified in the case of another unpopular Scotsman, in a
high position, whose memory has been equally traduced, with Dalyell and
Drummond, in the matter of the thumbscrew :—* James, 4th Earl and 1st
titular Duke of Perth is especially notorious as having added to the re-
cognised instruments of torture the thumbscrew.”*

The system of torture to which the Covenanters, and other prisoners,
were subjected in the reigns of Charles II. and James VII. was barbarous
in the extreme and utterly inexcusable. In this respect the sufferings of
the Covenanters and Cameronians are entitled to the commiseration of all
true Britons. ’

In April, 1667, Dalyell marched to Leith with his Regiment, and some
Troops of Horse, a Dutch Fleet having been descried on the East Coast.
Captain John Strachan, in a letter to the Navy Commissioners dated
¢ Leith, 30 April, 1667,” writes :—

“Sixteen Holland men of war came to the road yesterday evening . . . The.
Hollanders never discovered any colours until 8 o’clock when our three men of
war went up the Forth near Dungarve. The town of Leith was in a pretty
labyrinth, but by good lnck General Dalzell's regiment came to Leith. Mean-
time the Hollanders sent in two small vessels, sounding ahout the bar and beacon
..... but the wind proving southerly they went off to the road. About 8 next
morning the rest, above twelve sail, were discovered turning up the Forth, but
did not come above the island of Inchkeith ; the other sixteen ships went over
against the town of Burntisland and played their cannon against the forts, the

1 The Annandale Family Book, Vol. I, p. cexxxix, note.

3 Iistorical Notices, Vol. IL., p. 557.

2Dr. Robert Burns's edition. Glasgow, 1829, Vol. IV., p. 33.
48ee *“ Memoir " of this nobleman in the Dict. of Nat. Biog.
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castle of the town bravely answering them with the petty force they had. This
continued until § in the evening. Think they shot above 700 pieces of ordnance
but the damage is not certain, . . . no man killed. These men of war seeing
they could not prevail set sail to their consorts like so many dogs that want the tail,
and are driving with the tide and wind down the Forth with their foresail on the
mast.” 1

Robert Mein, Post-master at Edinburgh, reported to Lord Arlington’s
secretary (Williamson) on 30th April, that :—

“Thirty two Dutch men of war sounded the coast but General Dalzell cut the
beacon at the extreme of Leith harbour so that they were confused and battered
Burntisland with a thousand shot. The town returned it with twenty pieces of
cannon and in less than two hours, 10,000 men were in arms at Burntisland and
many at Leith,” 2

The bombardment of Burntisland is humorously referred to by Captain
John Strachan in a letter to the Navy Commissioners dated from ¢ Leith,
4 May, 1667 ” :—“ All the damage done by the Hollanders was that they
killed a hen and a rat that had built in an old chimney.” 8

The disbandment of the Scots Forces raised in 1666 was followed by
Rothes, Dalyell, and Drummond, being relieved of their commands. The
handful of Troops which composed the Scots Army was left without a
general officer for seven years. During that time the Earl of Linlithgow,
as senior officer, acted as commander.

In the autumn of 1667, Dalyell went to London. The outcome of his
appearance at Court was a “ Letter under the Great Seal by Charles II.
referring to the appointment of General Dalyell in 1666, and that he had
satisfied the King by his fidelity. Therefore the King grants a full
exoneration to the General of all his offices and frees him from all action
and all omissions made by him while executing his Commission. Signed
at Whitehall, 8 April, 1668.”

Dalyell’s sword remained in oil till July, 1679.

1 Cal. 8. P. Dom., 1667,

2 Ibid.

3 Ibid.

4 Hist. MSS. Comn., Report IX., Pt. IL., p. 236.






George Lavingflon Earl of Linhthgow

From an Origernal !7/:7 R White.

(See Memoir, pp. 29-34.)



(29 )

CHAPTER V

COLONEL THE EARL OF LINLITHGOW
ACTING COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF

1667-1674

WHEN the Scots Forces, raised in 1666, and early in 1667, were disbanded,
the Privy Council ordained that ‘“the field officers of the Foot Guards
should command in chief, and give orders in camp, or garrison, both to
horse and foot, at home and abroad, wherever they are.”

George Livingston, 3rd Earl of Linlithgow, who was born in 1616, had
suffered severely during the supremacy of Cromwell. At the Restoration
he was made a Privy Councillor and in September, 1662, was appointed
Lieut.-Colonel of the Foot Guards: then newly raised.! It is recorded
that “ Lord Linlithgow was forward in the attack at Pentland,”? and he
was one of the Privy Councillors at the Court of Commission held at
Glasgow, 17th December, 1666. In May, 1667, we find Linlithgow, with
part of his Regiment and some other Troops, guarding the north shore of
Firth of Forth, a Dutch Fleet having been sighted off the coast. Whileso
engaged an English frigate entered the mouth of the Forth, and landed
80 musketeers. These new-comers were found pressing Scots seamen for
service on English war-ships. Lord Linlithgow, with his Company of
Guards at his back, demanded from the English soldiers by whose authority
they acted ; and getting no satisfactory answer sent them back to their
ships without any Scots sailors.?

In September, 1667, the three Companies which had been transferred,
in the summer of 1666, from Lord George Douglas’s Regiment to Lord
Linlithgow’s Guards were struck off the strength of the last-named corps, and
were under orders to rejoin Douglas’s Scots Footin France. In consequence
of not having been paid their arrears, a mutiny broke out in the ranks of
these three Companies. The men refused to give up their arms or embark
at Leith. Hearing of this Sir James Turner of the Guards took immediate
steps to restore order. “ I sent Lieut. Leviston t of West Quarter,” writes
Turner in his Memoirs, “who belonged to these mutinous Companies to
tell the mutineers I was coming to hear and redresse their grievances.”S
When Turner appeared on the scene he harangued the men and promised
that they should receive their pay. This had the desired effect. The
three Companies were disarmed and disbanded at Burntisland.® The

1 See List of the Foot Guards for 1662 in Part IL., p. 13, and notes thereto.

2 Robert Mein to Williamson, 28th November, 1666. Cal. S.P. Dom.

3 Capt. John Strachan to the Navy Commissioners, Leith, 9th May, 1667. Cal. S.P.
Dom.

4 James Livingston of West Quarter (eldest son of Wm. Livingston styled of West
Quarter from his wife’s estate) who married Lady Mary Hamilton widow of Alex. 2nd
Earl of Calendar. James Livingston was created a Knight Baronet by William IIIL.,
30th May, 1699. Died in November or December, 1701. Scottish Notes and Queries,
Vol. IL, p. 81.

8 Memoirs, p. 198. & Ibid.
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ringleaders were imprisoned by order of the Earl of Linlithgow until
7th November, 1667, when the Privy Council issued a warrant to his
lordship directing him “ to cause sett to liberty the persons imprisoned by
him for their accession to ane late mutiny and that immediately after
the departure of the French officers with the companyes levyed be [by]
them.” 1

On the 8th August, 1667, the Privy Council brought about a new
method of paying the Troops. ‘“ Wee have this day altered the methode of
paying the old troopes and companies,” wrote Sir Robert Moray from
Edinburgh to Lauderdale in London, ““which was such a one as since
Cesar’s dayes was never practised in Europe, Africa, nor Asia. It was in
a word this: The whole 2 troops and six old foot companies at the
beginning of every quarter, used constantly to get assignments up on
selected shires for three moneths pay to come. So that they were alwise
so far from being in arriere that they were still payed a full quarter of a
year by advance. The fitness of changing it was so represented to the
officers that they acquiesced easily, being assured of good pay monethly
as their pay falls due.” 2

Let us see how this new system worked, and what advantage the Scots
Troops derived therefrom.

Two thirds of the soldiers in Colonel Borthwick’s Company of Guards
mutinied the beginning of November, 1670, and deserted. Captain
Wishart, with a Company of the Guards, was sent in pursuit of the
mutineers.® The outbreak was a very seriousone. The Duke of Hamilton
in his letter to Lauderdale, on 14th November, 1670, only voiced public
opinion when he wrote: “Its generally said that the Foot have great
provocations being so ill payed that they ar naked and starving.”* The
Privy Council made a searching enquiry into the why and the wherefore
of the Guards’ mutiny, and on 17th November, 1677, ‘“ upon consideration
of the examination and declaration of the whole persons, the Committee
finds that the whole Company hes bein ingaged by oath to the said mutiny,
albeit 34 of them did not goe out with the rest, and these that went out did
renew their oath to stand by the colours. They find that since March was
a year the company hes only receaved two shillinges a weik, and that the
eightein pence they want weikly of the King’s pay, will amount to ten
monethes pay or therby which will be resting to them.” 8

The King wrote to the Privy Council:—“22 Nov. 1670. You
are to publish such of the articles of war as you think necessary to be the
rules of martial law for the Foot regiment, the 2 troops of Horse, and
the garrisons of Edinburgh, Stirling, and Dumbarton that mutiny may be
punished and military discipline preserved.”

Is it surprising that when ill-paid, ill-fed, and ill-clothed soldiers got
the chance of pillaging and extorting money they did not always let the

1 Acts of the Privy Council, 1661-67, p. 737.

? Lauderdale Papers, Vol. IL., pp. 31-2.

® Warrant from the Privy Council, dated 13th November, 1670, to Captain Wishart * who
is toaid in pursning the mutineers.” This Warrant (which was recently sold at an Edinburgh
auction room) was signed by the Earl of Morton, Earl of Caithness, Lord Halkerton, Lord
Bellenden and Sir Robert Murray.

1 Add. MS.23134,fols. 142-143. Lord Linlithgow’s letter to Lauderdale, 29th November,
1670, refers also to the mutiny in Col. Borthwick’s Company (7bid., fol. 151). And Borth-
wick’s letter to the same on 10th December, 1670, gives more details. Ibid. fol. 155.

¢ Acts of the Privy Council, 1667-73, pp. 421, 422.

¢ Cal. 8 P. Dom., 1670.
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opportunity slip? Owing to the paucity of officers, it was often found
expedient tosend out small parties under the command of non-commissioned
officers to patrol disaffected districts in the West. There is no doubt
whatever that this system of patrolling the country led sometimes to
irregularities on the part of the soldiery, who tried to fill their empty
stomachs and gaping purses at the houses of those who were, rightly or
wrongly, suspected of being Covenanters or even harbourers of those in
arms against the Government. Sir Walter Scott has admirably depicted
in Old Mortality the modus operandi of Sergeant Bothwell and his party
of Troopers when on patrol duty in Covenanting times. The picture
is true to the life. But we have a contemporary account from the pen of
a gallant nobleman, who was actively employed with his Troop after the
Pentland business, of the misbehaviour of his soldiers when out of sight of
their officers.

“I told you in my last,” wrote the Earl of Annandale to his cham-
berlain from Newbie, 13th July, 1667, “I had sentt some of my troup to
Galloway. This people were together [but] ar now in six and sevines
robing and pillaging in the counttrey. Thay spoyle poor peoples houses,
and frightts all the ministers, and that is all thay doe.” !

Excesses by the soldiery were the outcome of absolute want. Wehave
it under General Drummond’s own hand in April, 1667, that the Forces
were “ in great necessitie of money . .. even neer to disorder, if my Lo.
Comissioner, the Generall Dalyell and Sr William Bruce® had not upon
their particular creditts and sureties advanced a considerable supply for
present releef.” 3 So scarce was hay and straw that four Troops had to be
removed from the West * lest that place should totally be layd wast.”4 It
ought to be some satisfaction to the Scottish nation to know that during
the Anglo-Dutch war of 1666-1667 the English people were ground down
by taxation and oppression of every kind; nor was the lot of the soldier
any better in South Britain than it was north of the Tweed. Here is a
letter to the King bearing date 30th June, 1666, from an Englishwoman,
who, for obvious reasons, conceals her name and address :—

‘“The people are in a desperate condition; housekeepers so oppressed
with taxes that they dare not open their doors, or the taxgatherer will
carry away abedoradish. ... .. they say a soldier may venture life or
fortune and yet perish for want as many have done since the Restoration,
Householders pay and soldiers are unpaid . . . . . . People scoff and say,
“be a soldier, no! we have precedents daily in the streets, we will fight no
more, for when the war is over we are slighted like dogs.” People say ‘ give
the King the Countess of Castlemaine and he cares not what the nation
suffers.” ”” ®

England and France declared war against Holland, 17th March, 1672.
The English Government had to face the old difficulty of raising and
paying additional forces. A Regiment of 1,000 strong was raised in

1 The Annandale Family Book of the Johnstones, Vol. 1., p. cexi.

? Younger son of Robert Bruce of Blairhall. Distinguished for his loyalty. Was
Surveyor-General of Scotland and designed Holyrood House as it now stands, Created a
Bart. by the title of Sir Wm. Bruce of Balcaskie, 218t April, 1668. Acquired the lands and
barony of Kinross where he built a splendid residence. Died 1710.

® Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 1., p. 279.

4 Ibid.

8 (Cal. 8.P. Dom., 1665-6, pp. 477-8. “Request to Major Miller to deliver the above
letter to the King for it concerns his life.” Directed to * Capt. Miller at the Cockpit,
‘Whitchall.”
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Ireland and sent to England for service with the Fleet. The command of
this corps was given to the Duke of Buckingham. The Irish Establishment
was also drawn upon for twelve Companies which were formed into a
composite Regiment.! A Marine Regiment was likewise levied in England.
Charles II. had, before war was declared, turned his attention to Scot-
land. He wanted an Infantry Regiment, 1,000 strong, levied in that
Kingdom, ““for service with the Fleet or elsewhere,” and to be paid by the
Scottish Treasury. Under date of 18th January, 1672, the Scottisb
Commissioners of the Treasury wrote to Lauderdale :—

‘“ Wee have hade under our serious consideration his Majesties proposall
for haveing a regiment of 1,000 foot leavied in this kingdome, and payed
by it, to serve him in England, either at sea or land. But wee find it
impossible that his Mat®® revenue in this Kingdome can have that
charge over and above what is already upon it.”2 Ten Companies of 100
men each were raised in Scotland by the middle of March, 1672, and
Scottish officers of good family appointed thereto. The Colonelcy was
left vacant till 25th July, when it was bestowed on Sir Wm. Lockhart of
Lee, one of the most distinguished Scotsmen of the time. Whatever class
of society Lockhart’s soldiers were drawn from, it remains an indisputable
fact that they mutinied, and deserted, showing a marked repugnance to
foreign service. Ill luck attended this Regiment the whole two years of its
existence. On arrival at Newcastle under Major Windram, the Scots
soldiers were ill received by the Newcastle populace who remembered the
taking of their town by General Leslie’s Army in 1640 and 1644. Colonel
Villiers, Governor of Tynemouth Castle and Commander of the Newcastle
Garrison, had his work cut out to keep the peace. He wrote to Secretary
Williamson on 2nd May, 1672, and described the difficulties of the situation
in consequence of ‘“old feuds” between the Scots and the Newcastle
townsmen, “the Scotch being somewhat untemperate (sic) now they are so
very flush of money.” It was thought advisable to send the Scots
Companies to Shields, to be shipped on colliers there for Yarmouth. On
their arrival at Shields, Captain Giles Bond wrote to the Navy Commis-
sioners, on 4th June :—*“ Many of the soldiers are Highlanders and unfit to
serve the King at sea, not being able to speak a word of English.” On
29th June, 1672, the ten Scots Companies embarked at Shields and landed
at Harwich. Seven Companies were sent to Yarmouth and three to
Ipswich. Some weeks later Lockhart’s Regiment embarked for Flanders.

On 28th November, 1673, Sir Wm. Lockhart, then in London, informs
Secretary Williamson of his having been under the greatest persecution of
ill fortune imaginable and has often had to go into the country to look
after an unhappy Regiment, which first mutinied and was afterwards
taken by Dutch capers, at least six Companies, and two more cast away
near Rye. The capers, after pillaging the soldiers, carried some of the
Officers to Holland, but put most of the private soldiers ashore in so many
parts of Kent, and Sussex, that he has had all possible difficulty to
re-assemble a part of them, and now on his return his Majesty tells him
‘““he must be going to France in a few days.” 8

In consequence of the above events, Lockhart’s Regiment had to be
reformed in Scotland. Under date of 9th December, 1673, the King wrote

Y Irish Army Lists, 1661-1685, by Charles Dalton, Introduction, p. xviii.
 Lauderdale Papers, Vol. II., p. 222.
3 Cal. 8.P. Dom., 1673-1675, p. 36. See biog. notice of Sir Wm. Lockbart in Part IT.
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to the Duke of Lauderdale and the Privy Council of Scotland ordering
“Sir W. Lockhart’s regiment to be recruited to the full number of 1,200
men; they were to authorise Major George Windram to levy voluntarily
900 men in addition to 200 soldiers from the Earl of Linlithgow’s regiment
and as the King understands a considerable number have deserted
from that regiment, a great number of whomn are now in Scotland, the
Privy Council are directed to make diligent search for such runaways, and
to have them punished according to law.”? The King also directed the
Treasury Commissioners *“to pay £1,000 sterling, as levy money for these
recruits, to be paid out of the supply granted towards the expense of the
present war.”? And lastly, his Majesty directed the Earl of Linlithgow
“to draw out of his regiment 200 men and embark them at any convenient
place on the Forth, delivering them to such officers as Sir W. Lockhart
shall appoint to receive them, and to recruit his regiment with the like
number.” 8

Peace was signed between England and Holland, 9th February, 1674.
The new and old Lockhart levies were dishanded.

During the seven years that Lord Linlithgow commanded the Forees in
Scotland he exercised a firm and beneficent rule in the disaffected West.
Soon after his taking over the command, the Privy Council, in their
‘“Instructions to the Forces,” state that “The Earl of Linlithgow,
commander-in-chief for the time, is allowed to change the quarters of the
soldiers, as he finds meet.” * Linlithgow had already given his opinion to
Lauderdale, the King’s adviser, as to what steps should be further taken
for securing the peace and quiet of the Kingdom, viz.

“(1) That his Majesty should grant a warrand for issuing a proclamation
discharging all those who had not subscribed the bond for keeping the
public peace from wearing any airmes, sword, durk, whinger, or any
other weapon whatsoever, or to have or keep any horses above the value of
fyftie pounds scottes, after a certane day to be affixt, and that a power and
warrand may be granted to all sherreiffs. ... and other magistrats
whatsoever to search for and to seize upon all armes, in the possession of
such persons. . ... And that also by the said proclamation it may be
declaired lawfull for any person whatsoever, who knows of any horses in
such hands above the value forsaid, to seise thereon, bringing alwayes along
with him any magistrat of burgh, or landwart, or any of their officiers . . . .
and in ther presence making payment of the said somme of fyftie pounds
scots, and in case of resistance (complaint being made to any of the
magistrats forsaids) that they cause the horse to be delyvered to the person
who seised the same, without payeing any pryce therfore, and otherwayes
punish him in whose hands the horse was found, in his person at ther
diseretion.”® Tt is to be particularly noted in Linlithgow’s suggestions,
just quoted, that the Civil power alone is mentioned.

It was not to be expected that the Covenanters would take kindly to
any measures for securing the peace and quiet of the Kingdom. In the
summer of 1668, a report was spread that the rebels in the West had again
risen. The Edinburgh post-master reports:—The Earl of Linlithgow
marched horse and foot to Loudon Hill, the surmised rendez-vous of the
rebels, but found not the slightest appearance of a rebellion; the Militia
being now sworn so that in twenty-four hours 20,000 men can be raised

! Cal. 8.P. Dom.,1673-1675, p. 51. 2 Ibid. 3 Ibid., pp. 51-52.
4 Privy Council Act, 9th May, 1668. * Lauderdale Papers, Vol. IL., pp. 96-97.

[o]
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without a groat of charge to the King, there is no fear of future
attempts.” !

The Militia does not come within the scope of this work; but the
following description of some of the new-raised local Regiments by the
Earl of Lauderdale, who engineered the Militia Bill through Parliament,
has a special interest :—

“ Halyrudehous, 12 Oect. 1669 ... ... I must give you ane account
of yor militia. In little more then threttie miles I have seen six regiments of
foote in very good order and well armed, and five troups of horse ; the Duke of
Buccleuich’s first, who was very well, both officers and sogers, and not a blew
cap ® amongst them. His troup was very well, but the Lord Newhottle’s was the
best manned that ever I saw Militia troup. The Earle of Roxbrough’s regiment
were good men and well armed but all blew caps aud the officers not to brag of.
The Earle of Home’s was every way well, and the Lord Yester’s yet better. The
militia regiment of this citty was very well. But if the Militia regiment of this
Shire had net been mine, I would say they looked best because all, both musket
aud pikemen, were in blew coats lined with white, which made a good shew.
Those six regiments you may depend on to march when and whither you please.
And thogh I hope you shall not need them yet it is not amiss to have such a body
ready. I shall doe my best to quicken the rest of the Kingdome.” 3

On 19th October, 1669, the Scottish Parliament met, the Earl of
Lauderdale being Lord High Commissioner. Under this date the
Edinburgh post-master sends some Parliamentary intelligence to his London
correspondent :— All the Members, with lifted hands, took the Oath of
Allegiance and then subscribed the declaration against the Covenant.”*
But there was a steadily increasing class of men chiefly in the West, “ who
would not even subscribe to the Lord’s Prayer if asked to do so.”
Covenanting writers, and apologists, have much to say on the iniquitous
conduct of the Government in trying to suppress conventicles. There is
abundant proof that seditious language was rife at the secret meetings
held by Covenanters, and that plans of a revolutionary character were
freely discussed by fanatics and irreconcilables. * Our disorders now
come to that height,” wrote Lord Kincardine to Lauderdale, on 20th
September, 1673, “ that it will be very hard to curb them without some-
thing be further done by the parliament . .. ... My reason is that not
only in all parts of the contrie privat conventicles abound, where
very disaffected persons preach dangerons doctrins® but in many parts
very numerous field conventicles are keept, at which guards are keept
by armed men. . . ... when you are here, and that you have considered
it, you may thinke it will be necessary wee have some greater force to
secure our peace then [than] what wee have already.” ®

Lauderdale arrived in Scotland about 1st November, 1673, as Lord High
Commissioner. Following Kincardine’s suggestion he advised the King to
increase the Scots Army and to appoint Sir George Monro as Major-General
Commanding the Forces. Lord Linlithgow resumed his post as Colonel of
the Foot Guards as soon as Sir George Monro’s Commission as Major-
General, which was dated at Windsor Castle, 25th August, 1674, reached
Scotland.

! Robert Mein to Williamson, 22nd August, 1668. Cal. S.P. Dom., 1667-1668, p. 548.

* “Tbe blew bonnet was the headdress of the common Scotch soldiers of the Covenanting
time . . . . Buccleuch’s guards were probably mounted with steel headpieces.”

? Lauderdale to tbe King. Lauderdale Papers, Vol. I1., pp. 140-141.

4 Robert Mein to Williamson. Cal. S.P. Dom.

 Not in italics in the original. [Ed.] ¢ Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 11., p. 233.
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CHAPTER VI

SIR GEORGE MONRO
MAJOR-GENERAL COMMANDING THE FORCES
1674-1677

“IN the wars of the 17th century,” writes a biographer of the Munros
and Monros, “especially in Germany, under Gustavus Adolphus, there
were engaged three Generals, eight Colonels, five Lt.-Colonels, eleven Majors,
and above thirty Captains, besides a large number of subalterns of the
name of Munro.” 1

Sir George Monro, third son of Colonel John Monro, of Obsdale, Ross-
shire, was born about 1602. At an early age he accompanied his uncle,
Colonel Robert Monro to Sweden and served with the Scots Regiment in
that country. Subsequently, he took part in the German campaign under
Gustavus Adolphus and, in the absence of Colonel Robert Monro, com-
manded the left wing of the Swedish Army at Lutzen, 16th November, 1632.%
George Monro returned to Scotland after the battle of Nordlingen, where
he had a very high command. A tradition is current,” writes the family
historian, “to the effect that on his, Monro’s, arrival at Newmore he sent
for a man, Walter Innes, a sincere Christian, much given to prayer and
residing at Inchnadoun. Upon Walter's appearance at Newmore Castle,
George Monro asked the godly man where hewas and whathe had been doing
on g certain date which henamed. Walter at first could not remember, but
after some consideration he said he was engaged all that day in his barn
praying to God to protect Newmore in the battle-field and bring him scath-
less out of the conflict.® ‘I thought you were so engaged, my good man,’
said Newmore, ‘as all through that day, in whatever direction I turned in
giving the command and directing the battle, I saw you as it were in
person before me, shielding me from danger, and thank God he has an-
swered your prayers, and I have returned home safe and unhurt.’ " *

George Monro accompanied Colonel Robert Monro to Ireland, in 1642,
and saw much service against the Irish Rebels. After his uncle’s defeat at
Benburb (1646), George Monro, who commanded a small force of Cavalry
and Infantry in the vicinity, made a splendid retreat “ without the loss of
a man.”® In 1648, George Monro who had now succeeded his uncle Robert
Monro as Major-General of the Scots forces in Ulster, was summoned by
the Parliament to Scotland to take part in the Duke of Hamilton's
Expedition into England. He left Ireland with a goodly force of Scottish
and Irish soldiers® against the wish of Colonel George Monk who com-

! Anderson’s Scottish Nation, Vol. IL., p. 215.

2 History of the Munros of Foulis, by Alex. Mackenzie, p. 177.

3 « Nordlingen, where the Imperialists gained a complete victory after a desperate
struggle.” Ibid. 4 Ibid.

5 From Major-General Robert Monro’s despatch printed in Rushworth’s Historical
Collections, Part IV.

6 ¢« Three thousand veterans drawn from the Scottish Army in Ireland which joined the
Duke of Hamilion at Kendal.” History of the Highlands and of the Highland Clans, by
James Browne, LL.D., Vol. IT,, p. 12,

c?2
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manded the English Parliamentary Troops in that Kingdom. George
Monro was not at the battle of P’reston, where Hamilton's “ Engagers”
were so signally defeated by Cromwell, being thirty miles in the rear.
Cromwell, writing to the Committee of the Lords and Commons at Derby
House, thus refers to Monro:— Wigan, 23 Aug. 1648. I am marched
[marching] myself back to Preston, and so on towards Monro or otherwise,
as God shall direct.”

Carlyle's remarks on Monro are interesting :-—* Monro with the rear-
ward of Hamilton’s beaten Army did not march ‘straight back’ to
Scotland as Turner told us, but very obliquely back lingering for several
wecks on the south side of the Border; collecting remnants of English,
Scoteh, and even Irish Malionants, not without hopes of raising a new
Army from them, cruelly spoiling those Northern Counties in the
interim.” !

During Monro’s absence in England the Western Whigs had risen and,
marching to Edinburgh, had taken possession of the city. As a
natural scquence of the *“ Whigamore Raid,” Royalists in general and
“ Engagers” in particular were treated asenemies by the General Assembly
and the Estates. Soon after crossing the Border, Monro joined forces
with the Earl of Lanark. The former then marched to Edinburgh, but on
his approaching the capital the Whigs turned the Castle guns upon him.
Monro now marched westward with the intention of seizing Stirling and en-
trapping the Marquis of Argyll, the Whig dictator, but this astute nobleman
made his escape from Stirling, when Monro entered the town on
12th September, and reached Edinburgh in safety. Finding that Lanark
and his party had made overtures of peace, and that the reinforcements
he expected did not join him, Monro made terms on 26th September,
1648, with the Whig government, and disbanded most of his Troops to
whom he gave a farewell address in St. Ninian’s Church. After this event
he returned to his command in Ireland. Monro took with him “a party of
Scottish Highlanders.” George Monro was knighted by the Earl of
Ormonde, Lord Lieutenant of Ireland, at Kilkenny, in January, 1649.2
Monro’s next important service was at the siege of Derry. From thence, in
June, 1649, he besieged and captured Coleraine. * Carrickfergus surren-
dered to Sir George Monro and Lord Montgomery on 4th July, 1649, and
Dalyell of Binns, formerly quartered there as an officer of Robert Monro’s
Regiment, was appointed governor.””® On 17th July, 1649, Sir G. Monro
returned with Lord Montgomery to the siege of Derry which still held out
against the Royalists. Being compelled to raise the siege, Monro retired to
Coleraine of which he was Governor. The following month, Cromwell
appeared in Ireland and changed the whole aspect of affairs in that
kingdom. Monro was forced to evacuate Coleraine by Colonel Coote and
retire to Carrickfergus. From thence he marched to Antrim and Lisnagarvey

! Cromwell's Letters and Speeches, edited by T. Carlyle. Carlyle does not appear to have
seen the old Civil War Tract, printed in 1648, a copy of which is in the Editor’s possession.
This tract describes Monro’s proceedings in Westmoreland, &c.

Allowing for great exaggeration as to the number of Monro’s Troops, the tract in question
is doubtless true as regards tbe friendliness of the Northern people to the Royalist Forces.
The “reckless excesses ” said to have been committed by Monro were in Scotland, where he
retreated after leaving England. History of the Munros of Foulis, p. 179,

? Shaw’s Knights, Vol. 11, p. 221. The memoir of Sir G. Monro in the Dict. of Nat.
Biog. states that he was made a Knight of the Bath by Charles II., but this lacks
confirmation, :

® History of the Munros of Foulis, p. 180.
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setting fire to both these towns. On 6th December, 1649, Colonels Coote
and Venables gave battle to Sir G. Monro and Lord Montgomery on the plains
of Lisnagarvey at Lisnestrain, not far from Lisburn. In this engagement,
which was hotly contested, Sir G. Monro commanded the Cavalry. The
Royalists were completely defeated. About 1,000 men, and many officers
were slain. Monro fled towards the river Blackwater ‘‘ and saved himself
by swimming across it, escaping to Charlemont and thence to Enniskillen.” !
In April, 1650, Sir George Monro was obliged to surrender the last-named
town to Colonel Coote on favourable terms for himself and his Troops,
some of whom accompanied their leader to Scotland.

We have already seen in a previous chapter how the Scottish Estates
passed an Act, 18th May, 1650, excluding Sir George Monro and other
oflicers from entering within the Kingdom.? But this prohibiton did not
deter Monro from landing in Scotland, during the summer of 1650, and
joining Middleton in the North.® The latter was, as previously stated, at
the head of the Royalists who had signed the ‘“ Northern Band and Oath of
Engagement,” the object of which was to rescue Charles 1I. from the
tyranny of the General Assembly and Estates. In the autumn, Monro
was taken prisoner in Galloway but escaped to Holland.

When Charles II. appointed Lieut.-General Middleton to command the
Royalist forces in Scotland, Sir George Monro was chosen by his Majesty
to be Lieut.-General of Horse and Foot in this kingdom. Monro landed in
Caithness with Middleton and Dalyell in February, 1654. Colonel Lilburn,
colnmanding the English forces in Scotland, wrote from Dalkeith on 22nd
February, 1654, to the Council of State in London:—“I have just seen a paper
stating that 1,500 Highlanders with Sir George Monro, Glengarry and the
Chancellor are in a body towards the north which I doubt will interrupt
our other business.”*

Previous to Middleton’s landing in Scotland, the Earl of Glencairn had
been in supreme command of the Royalist forces. This gallant nobleman
had now to relinquish the chief command, which he did in a very graceful
manner.® The same evening Glencairn gave a banquet to Middleton and
his officers. The harmony of this entertainment was entirely marred by
Sir George Monro who used insulting language to his host about the latter's
Highland soldiers. Glencairn gave Monro the direct lie. This led to a
duel early the next morning. The meeting was kept secret only Glencairn’s
valet and Monro’s brother® being present. The combatants fought
mounted ; but Monro’s bridle-hand being wounded the duel was finished on
foot. Again, Glencairn with a stroke of his broad-sword inflicted a severe
cut on Monro’s brow and the blood therefrom prevented the latter
continuing the fight. When Middleton heard of the duel he put Glencairn
under tewporary arrest and took his sword from him. The sympathy of

' History of the Munros of Foulis, p. 182.

? Balfour’s Annals, Vol. IV, p. 14.

3 Cromwell's Scotch Campaigns, 1650-1, by W. 8. Douglas, p. 158.

4 Cal. 8.P. Dom. This letter is wrongly calendared under *1653.”

% 4 The army being drawn up again . . . the Earl of Glencairn passed along the front of
all the regiments of horse and foot, and informed all the officers and men as he went
along that he had no further command now but as a private colonel, and that he hoped
they should be very happy in having so noble a commander as the present general, and the
officers under him : and so he wished them all well.” Account of the Earl of Glencairn’s
Fzpedition, by John Graham of Deuchrie.

¢ Major Alex. Monro of Lord George Douglas's Regiment of Foot in the service of
France.
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the Royalist officers was entirely with Lord Glencairn, as Monro was very
unpopular being hot tempered and surly in manner. To use an old Scots
term he was ““ cankered.” The want of unanimity between the Highland
‘and Lowland levies, as well as between Glencairn’s and Middleton’s officers,
split up the Royalist forces into factions and kept them from showing a
united front to the enemy. Middleton was defeated at Loch Garry.
Glencairn, who was not at aforesaid action, made his own terms with
General Monk, 4th September, 1654.! And on the 14th of the same month
Robert, Viscount Kenmore and his party surrendered on favourable con-
ditions. Lord Kenmore had been a popular commander among the soldiers
who served in Glencairn’s and Middleton’s expeditions. He always had a
large barrel of aqua vite rolled before him when on the march. The
soldiers facetiously called this cask “ Kenmore’s drum.” They might have
named it *“ Kenmore's dram ™ as by all accounts the Viscount drank his
full share :—* They say that Lord Kenmore being drinking strong waters
spoke some offensive words of General Midd[leton] insomuch that he tooke
his troupe from him, and made them all sweare they would be faithfull to
the King his interest, which they willinghe did, but upon a letter from
Kenmore to the Generall his troupe was restored.” ?

No definite information is forthcoming as to Sir George Monro’s
proceedings, after the defeat of the Royalist Forces at Loch Garry, till he
threw up his command in December, 1654. Like many of Middleton’s
officers he looked on further hostilities in Scotland as quite hopeless and
made terms with General Monk. Unpopular as Monro was with the Scottish
Royalists, his departure gave great offence to Middleton. He was even
accused of treachery which was a most ill-merited slander ; but it must be
remembered that his traducer® was a staunch adherent of Glenecairn,
between whom and Monro & deadly feud existed.

At the Restoration, Sir George Monro came to the front again and was
chosen M.P. for Ross-shire in 1661. Being a Presbyterian, he was regarded
with suspicion by the Scottish Bishops. On 3rd May, 1665, we find one
of Secretary Williamson’s Northern correspondents reporting that: ‘The
honest, stout Archbishop of Glasgow thinks the securing of Colonel
Robert Montgomery, Major-Generals Hoburn and Monroe, David Lesly,
now Lord Newark, and some few others would do much to keep the
country quiet.”* In August following, Sir George Monro was a prisoner
in the Edinburgh tolbooth where he remained for some time. So far as he
wasconcerned, the Archbishop’s suspicions of Monro being mixed up in any
plot hatched by Covenanters were groundless. Monro was a firm Royalist
and remained so till his death. It isrecorded that ‘“ while at Carrickferguns
he was asked by the Presbytery whether or not he would take the

! Scotland and the Protectorate, p. 174.
* Ibid., p. 171. ’
® Captain John Gwynne, a Welsh offieer, who had served under Glencairn, and had
been with Middleton at Lioeh Garry. Gwynne wrote some halting lines on the absent Monro
which were well received by the latter’s pcrsonal enemies. Here is a sample of the
poetry :—
“ Was not Monro amongst us? What needs then
To cite the smaller crymes of other men?
Since he so grand a traytor prov’d, as though
Himself, by beat of drum, proelaym’d it so.”

(Gwynne’s Memoirs, p. 104.)
* Cal. S.P. Dom., 1665.



THE SCOTS ARMY, I661-1688 39

Covenant and that his prompt and profane reply was: ‘The devil take
the Covenant and you too.””’?!

In 1669, Monro was elected M.P. for Sutherland and represented this
shire till 1674 when he was appointed, on 25th August, Major-General of
the Forces and Coloncl of a Regiment of Foot to be forthwith levied.
Monro was likewise appointed a Privy Councillor. In addition to Monro’s
Regiment of 800 men, two new Companies of 100 men each were to be
added to the Foot Guards; and three Troops of Horse were to be likewise
raised.

On 20th October same year, Lauderdale wrote to Monro:—“1I have
received your letter of the 10th, proposing a march through the country
with the King’s forces, which will be a prejudice to nobody and will conduce
to the discouraging of ill humours, and will fit the officers and soldiers
more for service. The King likes the proposition, and as he has given you
authority to order those forces as you shall think best for his service, so
he is very confident you will provide for the security of Edinburgh and
Stirling, and order the forces so that in their march they may not be a
burden to the country. As soon as you send up the Articles of War they
shall be speedily dispatched as also the establishment.”?

By Lauderdale’s advice, the King granted an “ Act of Indulgence,” in
favour of the outed Scottish ministers, in 1669. This conciliatory poliey
was not so successful as was expected. But for all that Lauderdale, who
was at heart a Presbyterian, adhered to his policy in order to curb the
growing power of the Episcopalian party ® and to set at variance the moder-
ate Presbyterian ministers and the irreconcilable Covenanters. A second
“ Act of Indulgence” was granted in 1672. This was a hali-hearted
measure which did little to allay popular discontent. Conventicles rapidly
increased, not only in the West but in other parts of the country. The
King's forces were actively employed in the disagreeable task of suppres-
sing these conventicles and arresting not only those ministers who held them
but the landowners, or householders, believed to be responsible for the
proscribed meetings. Much has been said by Covenanting historians about
the raid on Cardross House, Perthshire, by a party of the King’s Guards and
their outrageous conduct on that occasion. Under existing circumstances
the raid was a most regrettable incident. It was not, however, quite as bad
as reported. In the Diary of Colomel Jokn Erskine of Carnock, under
the head of ‘“Memoranda of Henry 3rd Lord Cardross,” we read that:—
“Towards the end of May, 1675, a party of the Guards under Sir Mungo
Murray came to the house of Cardross, under night, demanding admittance
but producing no order. They were admitted ; when they obliged Lady
Cardross, then with child, to get out of bed, that they might
search her chamber, and broke up chests and my Lord’s closet off the dining
room where his papers lay loose. They seized Mr. John King, a preacher,
then in the house, whom the Privy Council had formerly seized but on his
finding bail, had liberated.”* Now this reads as if Sir Mungo Murray, a
Brigadier of the King’s Life Guards, had personally instigated and carried
out this midnight raid; whereas Captain John Creichton, who was a

! History of the Munros of Foulis.

2 Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol. IIL., p. 88. A copy of the * Establishment ” is given
in the Appendix.

® Dr. Alex. Burnet, Archbishop of Glasgow, was deposed for his opposition to the Act
of Indulgence.

4 Diary (p. 227), published by the Scottish History Society in 1893.
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“ Gentleman Private” in the Life Guards in 1675, says in his Memoirs :—
“I was pitched upon with a small detachment . ... I went to my Lord
Cardross's house . . . . there I took King and delivered him to the
Council.”! Lord Cardross was away from home, and his frightened house-
hold were not in a state to give definite particulars regarding the leader of
the party. It is also highly improbable that the midnight raiders pro-
duced no order when they demanded admittance. It was not their first
raid on Cardross House, and Charles 11I. in the following letter to the Privy
Council dated * Whitehall, 22 Sept., 1674,” had expressly ordered
the arrest of Mr. John King:—“ We were informed that by your order
some of our Guards did in the house of Cardross apprehend and bring to
reason one King who was set at liberty upon caution to appear . . . . you
shall require that Lord Cardross do bring him back to Prison.” 2

Lord Cardross was heavily fined for his lady having been at two
conventicles kept in her own house, by her chaplain, and his lordship
suffered four years imprisonment at Edinburgh. We shall hear more later
on of Lord Cardross and his house, as also of Mr. John King who was
rescugd by some country people when being carried off to prison in May,
1675.

By way of stamping out conventicles the Privy Council in July, 1675,
passed an Act, doubtless by Sir George Monro’s advice, appointing gar-
risons in certain places, viz. ““at the house of Bridgehouse in Linlithgow-
shire, house of Cardross in Perthshire, house of Glentirring in Stirlingshire,
house of Mearns in Renfrewshire, house of Dovehill in Kinross-shire, house
of Dean at Kilmarnock, in the house of bailiary of Cuningham and shire
of Ayr, house of Airdrie in shire of Lanark, house of Newark in the shire
of Selkirk, house of Hunthill in the shire of Roxburgh, house of Blane in
the shire of Berwick, at the laird of Riddell’s house in the shire of Rox-
burgh, at the castle of Dumfries in the shire of Dumfries. And ordained
that in ilk garrison there be a company of foot and twelve horse and
that ilk two garrisons next adjacent have one Captain to command them;
and remit it to Major General Monro, as he shall find the places of the
two several garrisons more or less convenient, to put the fewer or
greater number in either of them, for the more conveniency: and that
the general major ordain the officers to keep and remain at their
respective garrisons and not leave their duty and charge, under the pain of
being cashiered, &c.” *

One of the three new Troops of Horse, raised in August, 1674, was com-
manded by George, Lord Ross of Hawkhead. We get an insight into the
duties expected from the Cavalry, at this period, by a letter from Lord
Ross, to Lauderdale dated from Edinburgh, 13th March, 1675 :—

“ Upon intelligence that on Sunday the last of ffeb” ther wes a field eonven-
tickle to be keeped some wher near to Bathgate a party was sent out to looke after
it, who aceordingly did fall in with them neare to the above mentioned place: at
the first aproche of the party many who wer at the conventickle did reteare to a

! See Creichton's Memoirs, printed 1731.

2 Printed in Henry Erskine, his Kinsfolk, and Times, p. 31.

® Under date of 12th June, 1675, Charles I1. wrote to the Privy Council of Scotland :—
“ We are informed that more effects of that seditious spirit break out afresh, and particu-
larly that a party of our forces has been deforced by a riotous and tumultuous assembly
near the house of Cardross, when one King was rescued from our soldiers.” Warrant Book
for Scotland, Vol. ITI., p. 253.

4 Printed by Wodrow, Vol. ITI. (1829 edit.), pp. 282-283.
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marsh ground close' by wher it wes not possible for the horse to attacke them ;
bot the party indevering to aprehend some of them who wer still upen the place,
in hope to have found the preacher amongst them, at the sight of which thos who
at the first had flead did returne, one of them saying would they see ther breath-
ring oppressed, and that thes few perjured dogs would not be a mowthful to them ;
upon which he who commanded the party fownd himselfe ohleadged to abandon
his prisoners to defend himselfe, and at the first aproche he charged them ecivilly
in his Maj*** name to disipai themselfs, promising no viollence showld be dene to
them who showld give obedience, bot the returne which they gave hack wes by
the firing of some pistols or other fire locks ai them, with which insolens being
much provocked they [the soldiers] did fire upon them hacke againe, by which
one of that insolent crew was kild, at the sight of which the rest did rune for it,
never the les the party did bring off 15 of them prisoners who ar now in the
Tolbooth of Ed*; ther hes heen a great deall of noyse made ahout it as if thes
gentillmen had provocked them to it, and some are pleasd to call it murder which
wes done, bot what ever is said I will ashewre yor Grace this is the trew and
certain accompt.” 1

In consequence of a letter from the Commissioners of the Treasury, on
11th August, 1675, to the King, the latter was reluctantly obliged to send an
order to the Privy Council for disbanding Monro’s Regiment and the three
Troops of Horse. In the King's letter, which is subseribed by Lauderdale,
directions are given for “ 100 men to be drawn out of the severall disbanded
Companies to be formed into a new Company which is to be added
to Our Regiment of Guards.”®* The low state of the Scottish Treasury
made it necessary also to disband the Earl of Rothes's Troop of Guards
early in 1676.

On the 27th October, 1677, the King wrote to Sir George Monro
‘“authorising him to command in chief Our Guards and all such other
Forces, both Horse and Foot, as shall be by Warrant of Our Privy Council
of Scotland drawn together for opposing any Rebellion or Insurrection
there,”3 In less than two months after this Royal letter had been written,
the Earl of Linlithgow was appointed Major-General of the Forces in
Scotland “in place of Sir George Monro Our late Major-General whose
Commission is hereby declared void.”* No reason is given for this change
of commanders, but it was apparent enough. In view of the increase of
conventicles in the West, and an expected rising, Lauderdale (who had
come to Scotland as High Commissioner in the summer of 1677) had
formulated a plan for bringing the disaffected shires into a state of sub-
Jjection. “I gave ane account before,” wrote Lauderdale to the Earl of
Danby from Holyrood, 8th November, 1677, “ what orders were given and
noblemen sent for making readie a good bodie of Highlanders and others,
if the phanaticks in the West should rise in armes.”® We may take it for
granted that Sir George Monro was dead against the * Highland Host”
being let loose on the south-western shires where they were to have free
quarters so long as they stayed. He was a really religious man, and must
have viewed with horror the inevitable spoliation of countless families
which had never risen in rebellion, but were supposed, rightly or wrongly,
to be in sympathy with the Covenanters. Monro was superseded because

! Lauderdale Papers, Vol. IIL., pp. 77-78.

2 Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol. IIL., p. 377.
3 Ibid., Vol. IV.

4 Ibid.

* Lauderdale Papers, Vol. III., p. 89.
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he would not fall in with Lauderdale’s cruel policy. He retired to New-
more Castle his seat in Ross-shire.

An anecdote has been handed down in the Monro family testifying to
Sir George’s merciful disposition when sent to suppress conventicles and
non-conformity in Eastern Ross:—‘ He had a favourite dog called Inver-
craig. Whenever he received instructions from Bishop Paterson to go
out and disperse a conventicle, he would call the dog to his side, when he
knew that Lady Monro, a sincere friend to the Covenanters, was within
liearsay, but not in his presence, and addressed the dog thus: ‘ Good
Invercraly, do you know I have got instructions from the Bishop to
proceed to-morrow to (naming the place) and apprehend the men who
intend to hold a meeting there to worship God, and if you like you may
go and warn them that I am coming,” Lady Monro sent timely intelligence
to the Covenanters, and when Sir George went to the place he found
nothing, and told the Bishop of Ross he had becn sent on a fool's
errand.”!

In 1683, Sir G. Monro was again chosen M.P. for Ross-shire. When
the Scots Army marched into England, October, 1688, Monro was
appointed Major-General of the Militia in Scotland by Commission dated
24th October, 1688, and was granted a yearly pension of £200.2 The Earl
of Balcarres has a snarl at Monro in his Memowrs, and says that “as head
of the Militia, Monro knew little more of the trade than these new raised
men, having lost by age, and being long out of service, anything he had
learned in Charles Gustavus’ days, except the rudeness and austerity of
that service.”® Balcarres, as a bigoted Jacobite, was inimical to Monro
and the Presbyterian party. General Hugh Mackay, a good judge of
soldiers, requested the Government, in 1690, to make Sir George Monro a
Privy Councillor, and grant him a pension, “in order to help Mackay to
take necessary measures for the security of the Kingdom in his (Mackay’s)
absence in Holland.” ¢

Sir George Monro died on 11th July, 1693, at Newmore Castle. He
was M.P. for Ross-shire at the time of his death. By his first wife, Anne,
daughter of his uncle Major-General Robert Monro, Sir George had a son
Hugh, who succeeded to Newmore. He inarried, secondly, in 1649, at
Coleraine, Christian, only daughter of Sir Frederick Hamilton, and sister
of Gustavus, 1st Viscount Boyne. By this marriage Sir George had two
sons, John who died in 1682, unmarried ; and George, who inherited the
estate of Culrain. The latter’s heir male ultimately succeeded to the
baronetey of Foulis.

¥ History of the Munros of Foulis, p. 189.

2 Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol, XIII.

3 Memoirs, edited by Lord Lindsay, 1841, p. 12.
4+ History of the Clan Mackay, p. 460.
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CHAPTER VII

THE EARL OF LINLITHGOW
MAJOR-GENERAL COMMANDING THE FORCES

1677-1679

“] DOUBT not but his Majestie,” wrote the Earl of Atholl to the Duke of
Lauderdale, “by your advice, has made a very good choice of the Earle
of Linlithgoe to be Major Generall and Commander in Chiefe of all forces,
horse and foott, raised or to bee raised.”?

On 1st December, 1677, we find Lauderdale writing to Viscount
Granard, commanding the Irish Troopsin Ulster, informing him that, in
view of the ““ great disorders in the western shires of Scotland . .. and
preparations made to take up arms against his Majesty,” it was the King’s
wish that Lord Granard should be prepared to embark the body of Troops
under his command, if called upon to do so, and land them on the west
coast of Scotland. To ensure the delivery of this letter, Lauderdale des-
patched Licutenent James Maitland of the Foot Guards to Ireland where he
was to wait upon Lord Granard, show him the written instructions ? given
to the bearer, and bring back his lordship’s reply. Maitland lost no time
on his errand and returned to Holyrood with Lord Granard’s written
answer which was to the effect that he had his Majesty’s orders “to
embark the forces now under his command and conduect them to Scotland,
if so required by the Lords of his Majesty’s Privy Council there . . . that
the forces my Lord has here {in the neighbourhood of Belfast] are above
2,000 foot and 300 horse.” 3

With a view of checking the French conquests in the Low Countries
the English Parliament were in favour of an Anglo-Dutch alliance against
France. Under the plea of assisting the Dutch, Charles II. obtained large
subsidies from Parliament early in 1678, and was able to raise additional
forces in his three kingdoms. As regards Scotland, a Troop of 60 Horse
was levied by the young Marquis of Montrose at his own expense, in
March, 1678, and marched to London, where it was incorporated with
the Duke of York’s new-raised Regiment of Horse for service in Flanders.
The Lieutenant of Montrose’s Troop was Patrick Graham of Inchbrakie who
subsequently commanded the Edinburgh Town Guard. The Cornet was
John Graham, Postmaster-General of Scotland, who got licence of absence
from the Privy Council.* It is interesting to know that on 27th November
1677, this same John Graham was directed, by an order in Council, “to
establish a horse post between Edinburgh and Portpatrick twice a week

! Dated at “ Tullibardine, 31 Dec. 1677.” Lauderdale Papers, Vol. IIL., p. 98.

3 These * Instruetions” are printed in the Culendar of the MSS of the Marquess of
Ormonde, K.P., New Series, Vol. IV, pp. 72-3.

8 Ibid., p. 73.

4 Privy Council Acts, June, 1673—August, 1678, fo. 698.
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each way ... and was to keep a vessel to sail twice a week and back
to Drogheda.”? This new service was to keep the military authorities in
Ireland in touch with the Scots Privy Council. Lord James Douglas was
to raise a Regiment of Foot in Scotland “ to be sent to England.”? This
corps was to consist of ten Companies of 100 men each.’

It so happened that the expected alliance with the Dutch against the
French did not find the same favour in Scotland asit did in kngland.
Consequently, great difficulty was found in raising recruits for the new
Douglas Regiment. The Earl of Murray writes to Lauderdale from
“ Whythall, May 4. 1678 ":—“I acquented bothe the Kinge and the Diwke
withe a letter of Lord James Douglass . . . complaeninge that he could
get no men in Scotland, and that y* Grace would not allow any of the
standing forcis or militia to tak on withe him and insinuating as mutch
as you wear [were] not so fordward for this war as when they caem for
assistans to the Frenshe.” * :

Owing to the dearth of recruits, one Company for Lord J. Douglas’s
Regiment was raised in Ireland by Captain Charles Murray. This Coin-
pany was shipped to a sea-port on the north-west coast of England and
marched by way of Kendal to the outskirts of Edinburgh where the men
were to be mustered and receive their clothing.® Two “ Companies” of
Scots Dragoons (of 100 men each) were raised by Royal Warrant in May,
1678.5 Two Highland Foot Companies were likewise ordered to be levied
in September same year ‘“ for securing the peace of the Highlands.” These
Companies, of 150 men each, were to be accompanied to their garrison at
Inverlockie, ““or any other place in the Highlands or Isles,” by * 100 com-
manded men of the Regt. of Foot Guards.””

On 23rd September, 1678, the King signed Commissions for the Earls of
Airlie and Home, and for John Graham of Claverhouse, to be Captains of
the three new Troops of Horse ““ to be entertained in Scotland.” ® A new
“ Company ” of Dragoons was bestowed at the same time on Viscount
Kingston ; and, last of all, a new Regiment of Foot, consisting of eight
Companies of 100 men each, was levied by Charles, Earl of Mar.® This
last-named corps still survives as the Royal Scots Fusiliers.

The Scots Army had now trebled its strength. The Earl of Linlithgow
made a progress through the disaffected West in the autumn of 1678. We
may safely conjecture that this ““displaying of the forces,” as a cynical
Scottish writer has termed the progress, had a deterrent effect on would-be
rebels who had not yet fully recovered from the late unwelcome sojourn

! Ormonde Papers, New Series, Vol. IV,, pp. 74-5.

? Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol. IV.

3 Ibid.

* Lauderdale Papers, Vol. IIL., p. 128.

® Warrant dated ‘ Whitehall, 24 June, 1678” to Captain Charles Murray to march to
Kendal and thence to near Edinburgh with his Company of 100 men ; “and that when
they shall arrive within a daye's journey of Edenburgh they remaine there untill yon
repaire to the Duke of Lauderdale Our High Commissioner to receive his directions for
quartering them as near as conveniently may be to the place where they and the rest of the
Companies of the Regiment are to receive their cloths aud armes.” Warrant Book for
Scotland, Vol. IV.

& Ibid.

7 King’s Letter to the Scottish Privy Council, 4th September, 1678. Ibid.

8 «“'The sons and brothers of lords and baronets and other persons of quality solicited to
be made Lieuts. and Cornets in these new-raised Troops.” Captain John Creichton’s
Memoirs (1731), p. 43. ’

® Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol. IV,
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in their midst of the “ Highland Host.”! On 23rd October, 1678, the King
wrote to Lord Linlithgow approving his services as Major-General :—
“ Wee have thought fit hereby to signifie to you the sense wee have of the
same . . . particularly in the late expedition into the West.”2 The King
gave further proof of his appreciation of Linlithgow’s services by bestow-
ing a pension on the latter of £300 per annum to be paid half yearly.?®
This nobleman was already in receipt of £200 per annum as Colonel of
the Foot Guards, to which had been added a special pension of £100, and
yearly pay of £300 as Major-General.*

Peace was signed between Holland and France at Nimeguen in August,
1678. The English Parliament voted standing Armies illegal and the
Commons requested the King to disband all the forces raised since
September, 1677. Charles had to comply. He had hoodwinked the nation
with the pretencc of an Anglo-Dutch alliance against the French. To
keep up the fiction, a strong British contingent bad been sent to Flanders
under the Earl of Feversham. In the meantime Charles was in receipt of
a secret pension from Louis XIV. to keep England neutral. The wholesale
disbandment of the new English levies did not atfect the Scots Army, but
Lord James Douglag’'s Regiment was disbanded in January, 1679,° having
been raised for the English Establishment.

On 10th December, 1678, a new form of “The Military Oath” was sanec-
tioned by Charles II. and subseribed by Lauderdale. The probability is
that this *“ Oath” was drawn up by Lord Linlithgow, in the tirst instance,
and submitted to Lauderdale who got the King to attach his sign-manual
thereto. This is it:—

“ CHARLES R.

“T A. B. doe swear to be true and faithfull to my Soveraign Lord King
Charles, and his lawfull successors, and in my Station to maintain the present
Government in Church and State as it is now established by Law, and to oppose
(to my power) the damnable principle of taking up Armes against the Kiug or
those Commissionate by him upon any pretext whatsoever, and to be obedient
in all things to his Majesty’s Major Generall or Commander in Chiefe authorised
by bis Majesty for the time being, and will behave myselfe obediently to my
superior officers in all that they shall command me for his Majesty’s Service ;
And I doe further swear that I will be a trne faithfull and ohedient Souldier
every way performiug my hest endeavours for his Majesty’s Service, Obeying all
Orders and submitting to all such Rules and Articles of Warre a3 are or shall be
established by his Majesty, So help me God.” &

! 4 The host of marauders,” as Hill Burton calls the Northern Highlanders let loose on
the Lowland shires of the West, ¢ has been cstimated in numhers varying from six to eight
thousand.” The “host” began its march in January, 1678 and spread over the doomed
countries like a swarm of locusts. The landed gentry of Ayrshire, Dumfries-shire, &c,
determined to go to Court and remonstrate against the Highland invasion. “By an Act
of Council the remonstrants were prohibited from crossing the Border.” But hy March,
the increasing outcry against the Highlanders madeitself heard in Conrt circles and the King,
wishing to prevent further disturbances, reversed Lauderdale’s cruel policy and ordered the
Highlanders to he dismissed to their own country. That they did not go home empty-
handed is an historical fact.

2 Warrant Book for Scotland, Vol. IV.

8 Ibid., fol. 16.

4 Ibid.

4 King’s Letter to the Privy Council of Scotland, 18th January, 1678. Warrant Book
for Scotland, Vol. V.

¢ Ibid. Some English readers may not he aware that the Scottish form of adjuration
differs from the Iinglish. The Scots take the oath with uplifted band and do not kiss the
Testament. An anecdote is told of a Scotsman who had to be examined at an linglish
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To the mass of the Covenanters who had never borne arms as trained
soldiers, and to whom military discipline was as odious as religious
conformity, the above form of oath was merely regarded by them as an
additional weapon put into the hands of their relentless persecutors by a
godless Government.

The last week in March, 1679, Major White’s Company at Lanark got
notice of a field conventicle to be held within the parish of Lesmahago.
The distance being too great for infantry to march in time to disperse the
meeting, Major White of Mar’s Regiment sent twenty dragoons under
Lieutenant John Dalyell and Ensign Duncan Menzies of his (the Major’s)
own Company. When the dragoons, and their leaders, came within sight
of the conventicle they perceived three companies of foot, each 100 strong,
drawn up in order; also a troop of horse. Half the foot had fire-locks,
the rest were armed with swords, halberds, and pitchforks. The troop of
horse were well-mounted and the troopers had pistols and carbines.
When the Covenanters perceived the dragoons some of their foot
advanced, while their horse attempted to surround the Royalist detach-
ment. The officers in charge of the dragoons ordered the Whigs to
disperse in the King’s name. The rebel commander answered disdainfully
saying that his assembled party appeared there for the King of Heaven.
He then gave the order to fire upon the dragoons who immediately
returned it. Each side then charged. In this unequal contest Lieutenant
Dalyell! was wounded in several places, one being in the groin, by a
thrust from a pitchfork, and thought to be mortal. Seven dragoons were
taken prisoners with the wounded officer. Ensign Menzies and the other
dragoons effected their escape. ‘“ After this,” writes Lord Linlithgow’s
correspondent, “ they [the Whigs] read the Covenant to the Lieut'lying
upon the ground wounded, and thereafter went to their conventicle wher
ther wes fowr sermones and lectures, and at seven a clock at night they
dismissed the Lieut. and the seven dragoons their prisoners bot kept their
horse and armes. One of the commanders of the Whiggs foot wes knowne
to be of the name of Cleland,? whose father lives in the toune of
Douglas.” 8

The rout of the little Royalist party gave fresh life to the Covenanters’
cause. On 29th May, 1679, Mr. Robert Hamilton,* who had commanded
the Horse at Lesmahago, with about three score mounted men rode into

trial and was sworn according to English law. His evidence was so manifestly untrue that
his counsel had the man sworn in Scottish fashion. The witness was then re-examined and
told quite a different tale. Being asked afterwards by his counsel how hc came te give

such contradictery evidence, the Scotsman replied: ¢ There’s an unce’ difference 'atween
blawin’ on a beuk au’ sennin’ ane’s saul to hell !’  Notes and Queries, 10th Series, Vol. V1.,
p. 487,

! See biog. notice of Lieutenant (afterwards Sir John) Dalyell in the annotations to
Mar’s Regiment given in Part II1.

? Covenanter, poet, soldier. Son of the Marquis of Douglas's gamekeeper. Appointed
Lieut.-Colonel of the Camerenian Regiment, in April, 1689. Killed at the defence of
Dunkeld, 21st August same year.

3 Lauderdale Papers, Vol. I11., pp. 162-3.

1 Second son to Sir Wm. Hamilton of Preston, Bart. Fought at Drumeclog. Com-
manded the rebels at Bothwell Brig. Succeeded to the baronetcy but not to the estate.
“He would not own the Prince and Princess of Orange and their prelatic Government . . .
Apprehended by persecuting soldiers, 10th Sept. 1692, at Earlstoun. Remained a prisoner
at Edinburgh till May, 1693. Continued faithful in contending earnestly for the faith
ence delivered to the Saints, Jude 3. Died at Berrowstouness 21 Oct. 1701.” The Battle
of Bothwell Bridge, &c., by Wm. Wilson, p. 113.
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the town of Rutherglen where bonfires were blazing in honour of the
King’s birthday. Hamilton’s party proceeded to burn the Acts enforcing
Episeopacy since the Restoration; they then extinguished the bonfires
and nailed their own ¢ declaration” to the Market Cross. After this act
of defiance the rebels and their leader rode away. When news reached
Claverhouse, the same evening, of ““the insolency that had been done at
Ruglen,”! he was on his way with his Troop from Falkirk to Glasgow
to join Lord Ross. After one night’s halt at Glasgow, Claverhouse
marched to Hamilton where he took a few prisoners, among them being
Mr. John King, late chaplain at Cardross House, who had been arrested
on two previous oceasions, and had twice secured his liberty.

On 1st June, 1679, Claverhouse was defeated at Drumclog by a force
of rebels mueh superior in numbers to his own. We have Claver-
house’s own account of the engagement; and whois there who has not read
the graphic account of the action in Old Mortality? Let the reader of
this historie novel obliterate from his mind the statement that Claver-
house was an officer of the Scottish Life Guards; also the incident relative
to the flag of truce sent by the aforesaid commander to the rcbels, before
the fight at Drumclog commenced, as these embellishments are fiction ; but
the story of the engagement itself is founded on fact. There is one
humorous incident connected with Claverhouse’s defeat which is worth
repeating. ‘“ When Claverouse was routed at Drumclog,” wrote Kirkton,
‘“he fled {on his sorely wounded charger] past his triumphant prisoner
[Mr. John King], who had been stationed in a small eabin on Loudon Hill
with a Dragoon sentry o prevent his escape ; King shouted after him to
stop and take the afternoon's preaching.”? We shall meet this Covenan-
ting divine again at Bothwell Bridge. His appearance at Drumclog
cannot have been very clerical if the following terse description be
true :(—

“ A bra’ muekle carle wi’ a white hat, and a great bob o’ ribbous on the cock
o‘t.’!3 N

On 3rd May, 1679, Dr. James Sharp, Archbishop of St. Andrews, was
done to death on Magus Moor, near St. Andrews, under circumstances of
the greatest brutality and in the presence of his daughter. The name of
John Balfour * of Kinloch stands out in bold relief as one of the assassins;
but what can be said for David Hackston of Rathillet who, though a
gentleman by birth, sat quietly on his lorse and saw the aged
Archbishop killed before his cyes. As an accessory after the fact,
Hackston was as guilty as his companions who committed the foul deed.
Let us see how the chief historian of the Covenanters regarded this
assassination :—

“Upon the whole,” wrote the Rev. Robert Wodrow, “ though the most
part of good people in Scotland could not but observe and adore the holy
and righteous providence of God in the removal of this violent persecutor
and spring of the most part of the former severities at such a juncture

1 Claverhouse to the Earl of Linlithgow, from Glasgow, 1st June, 1679. (Lauderdale
Papers.) Facsimile given in this Vol.—[EDp.]

2 The Rev. James Kirkton's Church of Scotland, p. 439 and note.

3 Ibid.

¢ In the Royal United Service Museum, Whitehall, is the “ Bible which belonged to
John Balfour of Kinloch, the Covenanter who fought at Drumclog. The first part of this
Bible was torn out by Balfour to make wads for his musket.” No. 253 in Museum
Catalogue.
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when just upon new and violent projects, yet they could not approve of
the manner of taking him off, nor would they justify the actors.”

Before engaging the rebels at Drumclog, Claverhouse sent a despatch
to Lord Ross at Glasgow desiring assistance. Ross marched out of the
town with reinforcements, but had not gone far when he met Claverhouse
with some of his discomfited soldiers. A recently discovered letter?
from Lord Ross to Lord Linlithgow, written from Glasgow on the memor-
able 1st June, 1679, records the meeting between the two commanders.

The attempt on Glasgow by the Covenanters is graphically described
by Lord Rossin a second letter to Lord Linlithgow, written the evening of
2nd June:—

“MY LORD,

“This morning thes rogwes had the confidence to asawlte us about eleven a
elock, the first atempt wes up the galow gait, ther nixt wes down that streat
which comes from the head of the towne, bot I had harricaded all the 4 streits so
well and lyned them with musketiers and paced dragoons behind them for a relife,
keeping E[arl] Hom[e]s troope and Claverces (?) intire in a body ; in the market
place owr sowldiers wer very active and we galed them so with owr shot that at
last they ran for it throwing down ther arms, the number of thes that ar killed I
can not condesend upon as yet, the town’s people hurled ther dead bodies so
quickly of[f] the streit ; we have taken a great many of ther wounuded men and
still taking mor owt of ther howses they fled to. I blise god non of owr officers
hes resaved any hurte, some few of owr sowldiers ar ill wownded two of which
onlly 1 think shall dye. I know not what Jwdgment to give of this afaire bot I
awn swre thes wes the warmest day I saw the year, I dwrst not adventer to follow
them when they run fearing ane ambush, hot so sown as they were clear away I
sent the horse and dragoons to fall wpon ther reare, and they are I wot now with
them at a place called Dambeth 3 myles east of this, they seam to move towards
bogl holl (sic) ; we keepe the market place still and this is owr present postore.
1 am your Lo. most humble servant,

“ ROSSE.”?

Quoting from “ Lord Linlithgow’s account of the Rebellion,” 3 we find that
after their repulse at Glasgow the rebels retired in disorder “. . . about
a mile from the town . . . and being a great deal more numerous, at last
marched off to the town of Hamilton where they quartered that night.”
Linlithgow then gives an account of his own proceedings :—“ Upon Wed-
nesday morning I marched from Edenburgh with all the forces that were
there, and did send an order to the Lord Ross to march with those that
were with him at Glasgow to Sterling which accordingly he did.”

Lord Linlithgow has been adversely criticised, and rightly so, for his
utter want of strategy in his plan for concentrating at Stirling when the
fate of Glasgow hung in the balance. News of the decfeat at Drumclog
had reached him at Edinburgh very early on 2nd June; and a second
despatch from Lord Ross, announcing the repulse of the attack on Glasgow,
reached the capital the following morning. Yet it was not till the morn-
ing of 4th June that the Commander-in-Chief marched out of Edinburgh
with his available forces, which must have numbered about 1,200 Regulars.
This was doubtless a small body of men to face the rebels who numbered
some thousands; but there is a mighty difference between well-disciplined

! See facsimile given in this vol. The original is in the Editor’s possession.

? Letter endorsed : “ The Lord Rosse his letter to the Major Generall, 2 June, 1679.”
Lauderdale Papers, Vol. 111, p. 166.

* Ibid., pp. 167-170.
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Troops and a rabble led by a man (Robert Hamilton) who never had any
military training.

Linlithgow’s force was sufficient to relieve Glasgow and hold that town
(which was well provisioned) with Ross’s Troops till joined by several out-
lying Troops and Companies, as well as by the Militia. When Ross received
his General’s orders to evacuate Glasgow, and march with all his Troops to
Stirling, he lost no time in obeying orders. His whole force joined the
main body at Larbert, two miles from Falkirk. The King’s Troops now
numbered 1,800 men. ‘With these,” wrote Linlithgow in his official
account of the Rebellion, “I resolved to march towards Glasgow, to see, if
possible, to make myself Master of that place before the Rebels should
enter it, by which meanes we should have got refreshment for our Soul-
diers, who wanted it extreamly. That night I marched to Kilsyth, where
we found little or no refreshment.” Linlithgow’s plan to recapture Glas-
gow came too late. His scouts brought him intelligence that they had
seen the rebels march into Glasgow, and that they were at least 7,000
strong.

Lignlithgow now called a Council of War. His officers, ““ except three
or four,! thought it not fitt to hazard the few standing forces his Majesty
had in Scotland so unequally . .. and I acknowledge I myself was of
that judgement. . . I resolved to march to Stirling that night, being the
greatest pass in Scotland, and fittest place for joyning the Northern forces.
I did give the Council immediately from the place an account of what I
had resolved, and desired their commands, and if they thought fitt I should
engadge the enimy, I should againe march from Sterling towards them.
About 7 of the clock next morning I receaved their commands to march
to Edenburgh, untill the rest of the forces came up, and their approbation
of what Thad done.” 2

Linlithgow was a good regimental officer, but he had not the advantage
of Dalyell’s or Drummond’s experience of warfare. When the crisis came
he proved vacillating and changeable. Apparently he took no steps to
meet the commissariat requirements of his Troops. After two whole days
of preparation in the capital of Scotland, Linlithgow was unable to make
a forced march to Glasgow for lack of provisions. It was jocularly said
of English soldiers during the seventeenth century, that they could not
fight without their beef, their beer, and their beds; but Scottish soldiers of
that period were considered more hardy. A famous Scottish general
(Lord Clyde) wished for nothing better than to fight a pitched battle
with 10,000 well-fed Englishmen, 10,000 half-starved Scotsmen, and 10,000
half-drunk Irishmen !

The biographer of the Livingstons tells us that the true reason of Lin-
lithgow’s retiring to Stirling, with the Scots forces, was because “ he had
received a private order from the Council to delay engaging with the rebels
until the arrival of the Duke of Monmouth.”® If this be true, we may be
sure that old Tom Dalyell was not one of the Councillors who gave this
timid order. “From ingles asistens mightay God deliver us” wrote
Dalyell to Lauderdale in January, 1667. He was not likely to have changed

1 The names of these officers are not given. In the Memoirs of Viscount Dundee (1714), it
is stated that Claverhouse strongly opposed Linlithgow’s retreat to Stirling, and ‘ offered
with a thousand horse and foot to disperse the rebels or never to return himself alive.”
Quoted in Professor Terry’s Jokn Grakam of Claverhouse, Viscount Dundee, p. 64, note 3.

2 Lauderdale Papers, Vol. IIL., p. 169.

® The Livingstons of Calendar, by Edwin Livingston, p. 71.
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his opinion now that his valuable services as a commander were ignored
and he was not employed. Nor was there any reason for the panic-stricken
Council to have informed Landerdale that more troops were necessary to
crush the rebellion.

When we remember Lauderdale’s boast to Charles II. in 1669, that
20,000 Scottish Militia were ready to take the field when called upon to
do so, it is surprising to find the Council solieiting for assistance from
England. On 5th June, the Militia were named for service. Two days
later the Council wrote to the Earl of Argyll, then engaged with the Earl
of Caithness in the Western Highlands crushing a rebellion of the Macdonalds
and Macleans, commanding him “ to desentagle himself from the expedition
for which he was eommissionated against the rebellious people in the
Highlands, to the end that he may with the greatest diligence he ean
repaire to his Majesty’s host and join the forees under the ecommand of the
Earl of Linlithgow, with his friendis, vassallis, servantis, and followeris,
weill appoynted And armed, for assisting towards the suppression of this
treasonable insurreetion.”!

Returning to Linlithgow and his Troops, we find them still at Edinburgh
on 16th June. The ‘““Journals of the Privy Couneil,” under above date,
coutain this notice :—“Resolved that the march of the army be delayed
till to-morrow, in regard of the great rains, and that some things for the
amunition and the artillerie are not yet ready, and that the army mareh
by the way of Linlithgow towards Hamilton in quest of the enemie.”?
And later in the day occurs this entry :—“ Warrant given to the Major
Generall to cause bring in eowes, oxen, sheep, and uy* [other] provisions for
the use of the army and that the Commissary make distribution y of
[thereof] as he shall find cause.” 3

It is an interesting fact to know that there was a Commissary; but
his duties eannot have been heavy as Linlithgow had hardly reaehed his
camp in Kirkhill Park near Broxburn, on the evening of 17th June (the
day he marehed out of Edinburgh), when he wrote to the Earl of Rothes
bewailing the faet that there was no bread for the soldiers :—“ My Lord,
it is very sad to have so many militia regiments here, and hardly one bit
of bread to eat, which if not remedied by your lordship, I leave you to
judge of the event. I hope all of us here will do our duty in our stations,
but men must eat.” *

When we eonsider that the Privy Council knew the strength of the
King’s forees, and of the Militia they had called out, it is truly astonish-
ing to find sueh a lamentable want of preparation, not only on their part
but on that of the Commander-in-Chief who was one of themselves.

Twelve years later, it was said that William III’s Army “conquered
Ireland with the help of Cheshire cheese and biscuits.” But for lack
of the last-named article Scotland ran the risk of being once more over-run
by Covenanters. On 18th June, Linlithgow reports to Rothes (Lord Chan-
cellor) that five Militia Regiments have joined: ¢ We have here the regi-
ments of East Lothian, the Merse, that Perthshire regiment commanded
by the Marquis of Athol, the other was at Linlithgow last night and will
join us this morning, the two Fife regiments, the regiment of Angus, I

! Lord Strathmore's Book of Record, published by the Scottish History Society, p. 131.
: Lauderdale ’apers, Vol. II1., p. 170.
Ibid.
‘gsl;etter given in Wodrow's Sufferings of the Church of Scotland (1829 edit.), Vol. III.,
pp. 99-100.
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believe, will join us in our march this day, and the militia regiment of the
town of Edinburgh ... as near as I can conjecture the eight militia
regiments that we have will make np about five thousand men.”! On the
same day that this letter was written, the Duke of Monmouth arrived
at Edinburgh with his suite and was sworn a Privy Councillor. On
19th June, he joined the Army at Blackburn and took over the command
from Linlithgow. Monmouth’s victory at Bothwell Bridge belongs to
another chapter. Linlithgow had command of the Infantry in above
engagement. Shortly afterwards he accompanied Claverhouse to London
to give the King an account of affairs in Scotland.

Linlithgow was not again employed as a general officer ; but he retained
command of the Foot Guards till 1684 when pressure was put on him to
resign his Colonelcy in favour of Lieut-Colonel the Hon. James Douglas
(brother to the 1st Duke of Queensberry) who was given the Regiment
13th June. “Lord Linlithgow cynically remarked that he defied anyone
to keep it as long as he had done, his method having been to bribe the
Duchess of Lauderdale and others.” 2

To make up for the loss 